

FCND DISCUSSION PAPER NO. 145

CHILD LABOR AND SCHOOL DECISIONS IN URBAN AND RURAL AREAS: CROSS COUNTRY EVIDENCE

Lire Ersado

Food Consumption and Nutrition Division

International Food Policy Research Institute 2033 K Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006 U.S.A. (202) 862–5600 Fax: (202) 467–4439

December 2002

FCND Discussion Papers contain preliminary material and research results, and are circulated prior to a full peer review in order to stimulate discussion and critical comment. It is expected that most Discussion Papers will eventually be published in some other form, and that their content may also be revised.

Abstract

Child labor is widespread in developing countries, but its causes are debatable. Poverty is considered the primary reason, but many theoretical and empirical analyses show that other factors, such as lack of access to credit, poor school quality, and labor market opportunities play equal or even greater roles in the decision to have children work. This study surveys the existing literature and, taking into account urban-rural divides, aims to shed light on the debate with empirical evidence from Nepal, Peru, and Zimbabwe. We find that while poverty drives child work and schooling in rural areas, it does not appear to significantly influence such decisions in urban areas. This suggests that policies such as trade sanctions or a ban on child labor in rural areas could have an adverse effect as child labor decisions in such areas are more likely a response to poverty and subsistence requirements. Similarly, improving access to credit has greater potential for alleviating child labor and enhancing school enrollment in rural than urban areas, particularly in Nepal and Zimbabwe. On the other hand, the availability of alternative childcare options appears to considerably decrease child labor and create conditions for higher school attendance rates in urban than in rural areas. Finally, evidence from all three countries indicates that efforts to bolster adult educational levels and wages will help curb the prevalence and intensity of child labor and improve the likelihood that children stay in school.

Contents

Acknowledgments	v
1. Introduction	1
2. Theoretical and Conceptual Framework	6
3. Data	
Child Schooling and Employment Distribution by Age	14
Child Time Allocation by Residence and Sex	16
The Role of Children in the Household	17
4. The Empirical Model	19
Explanatory Variables, Endogeneity Issues, and Empirical Strategy	
5 Empirical Results	25
Rural Child Labor and Schooling Decisions	
Urban Child Labor and Schooling Decisions	
č	
6. Summary and Policy Implications	
References	51

Tables

1	Enrollment and employment rates among Nepalese children in 1995/96	15
2	Enrollment and employment rates among Peruvian children in 1994	15
3	Enrollment and employment rates among Zimbabwean children in 1990/91	15
4	Children's time allocation into employment, schooling, and/or both	17
5	Means of selected variables	18

Appendix Tables

6	Jointchild and schooling decisions in rural areas	.39
7	Joint child and schooling decisions in rural areas, IV estimates	.41
8	Joint child and schooling decisions in urban areas	.43
9	Joint child and schooling decisions in urban areas, IV estimates	.45
10	Child labor supply in rural areas, Tobit estimates	.47
11	Child labor supply in urban areas, Tobit estimates	.49

Acknowledgments

I thank James Garrett, Harold Alderman, John Maluccio, and Futoshi Yamauchi

for helpful comments on an earlier draft of this paper. All remaining errors are my own.

Lire Ersado International Food Policy Research Institute

1. Introduction

It is universally accepted that the rate of economic growth depends crucially on the stock of human capital in a country (Romer 1987; Lucas 1988; Barro 1991; Mankiw, Romer, and Weil 1992). The process of building capabilities to reduce poverty and vulnerability thus should involve enhancement of individual and household human capital assets. A low level of human capital development has been long identified as a major impediment to economic growth and the elimination of poverty in developing countries. Several studies (e.g., Vijverberg 1993; Glick and Sahn 2000) find high returns in the labor markets for investments in education for both men and women. Glick and Sahn (1997) show that the earnings of women and men increase with schooling in both self-employment and wage employment by using data from a developing country. Similarly, other studies have consistently shown that child education has higher returns than other physical assets (e.g., Psacharopoulos 1994). Despite these apparent benefits and high potential returns to education, the level of education and educational attainment remain remarkably low in most developing countries, and child labor participation, considered to be a competing activity to schooling, continues to be a common phenomenon.

Child labor is widespread in developing countries. Estimates by the International Labor Organization (ILO 1996) of the number of children under age 15 who work ranges from 100 to 200 million. UNICEF (1991) estimated that there were 80 million children ages 10–14 who undertook work so long or arduous that it interfered with their normal

development. Though many, including parents themselves, agree that childhood is a period of school learning and physical and mental development—and not of primarily income-generating work—many young children in low-income countries participate in the labor force, and their chance of receiving even primary education is minimal. How do parents decide whether to send their children to school, and how do they calculate the costs of not doing so?¹

The causes of child labor are debatable, although poverty is considered as the primary reason. That there is a higher geographic concentration of child workers in poor countries (see Basu 1999) indicates the inverse association of child labor and income. Basu and Van (1998) argue that the mass phenomenon of child labor does not reflect the selfishness of parents wanting to enjoy more leisure time while their children work, but rather that stark poverty and household survival compels them to send their children to work. For poor households, school investment decisions are associated with a host of decisions regarding use of time and other resources of various household members. Changes in household circumstances, such as becoming poor, may elicit important time-use changes, not only of children who are students or potential students, but of parents as well. In developing countries, often more than one member of the household generates income (e.g., Ersado 2002 on Zimbabwe; Pradhan and van Soest 1997 on Bolivia), which often necessitates the use of child labor. Several studies that looked at schooling determinants in developing countries find that household wealth does figure

¹ These costs include perpetuating the vicious circle of poverty and vulnerability and extending it from the current generation to the next.

predominantly in child schooling and work decisions (e.g., Basu and Van 1998). Bhalotra (2000a) finds that in Pakistan child work is caused by poverty.

Studies, citing evidence mainly from Latin America, argue that the rates of child labor are higher at times when children have better work opportunities as measured by local labor market conditions (Levison, Moe, and Knaul 2001; Binder 1999). Since the seminal paper by Becker (1964), many development researchers have recognized the importance of opportunity costs in schooling decisions. The opportunity costs of schooling increases as market wages for child labor increase. Furthermore, differences in labor market conditions by gender may differentially affect the schooling decision for boys and girls.

Still others argue that factors such as credit market imperfection, not poverty, play a role in sending children to work or keeping them at home to take care of domestic household responsibilities, even though returns on education (which accrue in the future) are higher.² Cross-sectional data from India and other developing countries show that a higher incidence of poverty is not correlated with a higher incidence of child labor (e.g., Swaminathan 1998). The Becker model and more recently Ranjan (2001) imply that income does not matter if complete credit markets exist. A study by Jacoby (1994) finds that borrowing constraints negatively affect children's schooling attainment in Peru. Studies also exist that highlight the child labor decision as part of household's riskmanagement strategy (Mendelievich 1979; Jacoby and Skoufias 1997; Grootaert and

 $^{^{2}}$ Ranjan (1999), using a two-period overlapping generation model, shows that credit constraints, not poverty, play a role in a household's decision to use child labor instead of sending their children to school.

Kanbur 1995). Households need to minimize the impact of shocks such as job losses and failed harvest on their income. Lack of access to credit for smoothing income fluctuations over time might, therefore, lead to a higher prevalence of child labor. Jacoby and Skoufias (1994) used a measure of variability of household income in rural India and found that when variability increased, school attendance declined.

Lack of access to school and low school quality could also affect child schooling and work decisions. For households rationally maximizing their welfare, low demand for schooling might arise because of low quality or excessive costs. Inaccessibility of schools or their poor quality thus may spur parents to engage their children in more immediate and profitable pursuits (e.g., Grootaert and Patrinos 1999). Schooling costs since schooling is the main competing time use for children—could also be an important determinant of the likelihood of child work (e.g., Siddiqi and Patrinos 1995). Some children may have to work to afford the direct costs of schooling. Even with sufficient access to school, child labor may still continue to be a common phenomenon if the household decisionmaking process gives more weight to income from children's labor and less weight to children's schooling because of unequal distributions of wealth among households (Grootaert and Kanbur 1995) or other cultural, environmental, and unobservable factors.

While labor is the poor's greatest asset, child labor raises important concerns. A household's decision to increase the number of family members in the labor market implies that mothers might have to give up vital household and childcare activities, and children might have to sacrifice their education in order to participate in income

generating activities. When the poor depend on their children's labor rather than invest in their future by educating them, they risk perpetuating poverty from one generation to the next (Moser 1996). It is important to understand the trade-offs that households make between child labor-market participation and other vital time allocation decisions such as schooling and household work. Such understanding will improve the design of development programs and policies to reduce poverty.

The evidence briefly summarized here shows a lack of consensus on the causes of child labor and suggests that its determinants may vary across geographic regions. It also casts doubt on the notion that child labor is primarily determined by poverty. This paper, using household survey data from three geographic regions (Africa, Asia, and Latin America), investigates the factors driving child labor by collecting cross-country evidence on labor force participation and child education-related decisions important for development policy. It also examines urban-rural differences in child labor and schooling decisions by emphasizing differences in livelihood strategies and approaches in urban and rural areas.

This paper specifically asks questions such as: Does child labor mainly arise as a response to low income, lack of access to credit, an improved labor market, or poor school quality? What affects the level of participation in the labor force once the decision to participate has been made? Are there differences in Sub-Saharan Africa,

Latin America, and Southeast Asia? Are urban-rural differences important?³ Empirical models that simultaneously consider labor participation and schooling decisions and the level of participation once such decisions are made while taking into account the potential differences in urban and rural areas are scant in development literature. Yet these factors are of paramount importance to targeted policy and program designs to address poverty. The paper empirically investigates these questions using nationally representative data from urban and rural areas of three developing countries in Africa, Asia, and Latin America.

2. Theoretical and Conceptual Framework

The conventional welfare economics approach provides a useful framework for integrating determinants of child labor and schooling decisions. The starting point is the household decisionmaking process for allocating children's time between labor and nonlabor activities such as schooling and leisure, taking into account the private returns to each. There are two main household decisionmaking models. In unitary neoclassical household labor supply models, the family is assumed to make a joint decision regarding household consumption and labor supply of its members. The decision is guided by utility maximization determined by household consumption and leisure of household members, under household budgetary constraints. More recently, collective models,

³ Unlike their rural counterparts, who directly produce for their consumption needs and depend on the surrounding natural resources, most urban households depend on wage employment for income, markets for food supply and other livelihood needs, affordable social services, and government services for family safety nets. Such differences may well be reflected in child labor and schooling decisions.

whereby the decisions and the outcomes in the household are results of a bargaining process among members, have received considerable attention.⁴

The latter models require information on what happens within the household and the knowledge of bargaining-power share structure among household members. To date these models are commonly applied to husbands and wives. This paper confines itself to the case in which child labor and schooling decisions are an outcome of a unitary household decisionmaking process. A unitary model appears relevant in the case since decisions about child labor-force participation and hours of work, leisure, and schooling are typically made by an adult, not by children themselves (Ray 2000b; Bhalotra 2000b).⁵

Assume first that a representative household is composed of one parent and one child.⁶ Further assume that the household maximizes a two period (t) utility function:

$$V_t = U(C_t, L_{p,t}, L_{c,t}, S_{c,t}, X_t),$$
(1)

where U is a well defined concave utility function over joint consumption (C), child schooling (S_c) ,⁷ parent, and child leisure times (L_p, L_c) , and a vector of individual and household characteristics (X). In the first period, the parent decides whether to send his child to school or work. If the decision to send the child to school is made, the decisionmaker decides how much schooling the child will get through a household time

⁴ See, Alderman et al. (1995) for a good description of the collective model of household decisionmaking.

⁵ However, the gender of household head is included as well as male and female wages and educational levels separately in the empirical estimation. This will help account for potential differences in preferences between father and mother over child labor and schooling choices.

⁶ Households with more members can be considered without loss of generality.

⁷ Including child schooling in the parent's utility function assumes that education is both an investment and consumption good for parents (Becker and Lewis 1973).

allocation process. Assume that the parent decides to send his child to work in the first period; the child earns wage W_c (a child wage) in the first period and W_u (unskilled adult wage) in the second period. If the parent instead decides to send his child to school, the child earns 0 wage in the first period and a W_s (a skilled adult wage) in the second period. It is safe to assume that $W_c \le W_u \le W_s$.

Thus, the household's total resources depend on the parent's decision to send the child to work or to school in period t. In period t + 1, the consumption and leisure of the child depends on child's wage (whether it is W_u or W_s), which in turn depends on whether the child is educated or not and the amount of time spent on schooling (S_c). The goal of the household decisionmaker, then, is to maximize utility at equation (1), subject to time, and these resource constraints at each period:

$$C_t + W_t (L_{p,t} + L_{c,t} + S_{c,t}) = \Omega_t + W_t T, \qquad (2)$$

where W_t is a vector of wage rates for parent and child; T is total time available for the household (i.e., $T = T_p + T_c$, where T_p and T_c are total parent and child time, respectively); Ω_t is nonwage income, and the price of joint consumption, C_t , is assumed as the *numeraire*. This is a standard budget constraint where the left-hand sides are the outlays and the right-hand sides constitute the various income sources. Note that Ω_t includes profits from self-employment in farm and nonfarm activities (Π), interest income from household assets (A_t), transfers, and from all other incomes nonlabor sources:

$$\Omega_t = \Pi_t + \delta A_t + Y_t \tag{3}$$

where δ is the interest rate and Y_t comprises all other nonlabor income.

In addition to equation (2), the household decisionmaker is subject to a child-time constraint. In a typical developing country, child time may be allocated to three broad activities—schooling, paid labor, and leisure, including unpaid household domestic work:

$$T_c = L_{c,t} + S_{c,t} + E_{c,t}, (4)$$

where $E_{c,t}$ is child time spent working on wage- and nonwage-earning employment.

Since child schooling and work decisions have intertemporal implications for the household, consider an intertemporal version of the budget constraint in equation (2). Following Bahlotra (2000a), the time path of household assets (*A*) can be defined as follows:

$$A_{t+1} = (1+\delta)A_t + \{\Pi_t + Y_t + W_t E_{c,t} + W_t (T_p - L_{p,t}) - C_t\},$$
(5)

where A_t is total asset holding at the initial period; and the second term on the right-hand side accounts for savings (dissavings, if negative) from period *t* income after that period's consumption. Using equations (2)–(5) and solving for Ω_t , we have

$$\Omega_t = (A_{t+1} - A_t) + \{C_t - (W_t E_{c,t} + W_t (T_p - L_{p,t}))\} \equiv \Delta A_t .$$
(6)

Equation (6) implies that an intertemporally consistent measure of nonwage income amounts to asset accumulation or de-cumulation, which allows agents to save or dissave (Bhalotra 2000a). This measure of nonwage income, which basically excludes income generated by children by virtue of its definition and the fact that child income is generally assumed to originate from wages, could be used as a exogenous poverty measure in the estimation of child schooling and work decisions.⁸

Now assume the decisionmaker maximizes household welfare, equation (1), subject to a budgetary constraint, equation (6), and child time-constraints, equation (4), which mainly constitute time allocation decisions. Maximizing household welfare subject to budgetary and time constraints implies that a parent's decision on child schooling or work depends on the market price for composite consumption good (assumed as *numeraire*); wage rates for child, unskilled, and skilled labor; household asset holding; and nonwage income.

Other factors, denoted by vector X in the utility function, such as perception of the value of education, accessibility of and expenses for school, the government's education policy, and the availability of educational infrastructure, play a role in schooling decisions. Family characteristics, such as whether the parent is a father, could also play a role in such decisions. Many studies observe that mothers tend to give greater weight to child education than do fathers (e.g., Kassouf 1998). Following Becker's (1964) theory that parents invest in children's schooling up to the point where marginal costs equal marginal benefits, the opportunity cost of schooling, which is reflected by the going wage rate for children's labor (W_c), the expected return on education (W_s), and uneducated adult labor (W_u), will affect the amount of time parents allow children to spend at school.

⁸ In the empirical section, potential endogeneity of nonwage income is tested. Presented results are based on using it and its valid instrument (i.e., direct measure of household asset ownership).

Taking these into account, an indirect utility function of a household under child schooling alone, schooling and work, and work alone decisions can be constructed. An indirect utility function represents the maximum utility a household receives, conditioned on the choices it makes. To construct one, first consider that the household maximizes equation (1), subject to equations (4) and (6) by allocating child time for schooling, work, or both. Solving this problem would lead to a vector of optimal choices that are functions of prices, wages, household characteristics, income, credit constraints, and other factors,

$$\Gamma^*(W_t, \Pi_t, A_t, Y_t, X_t, \Psi),$$
(7)

where Ψ constitutes all community-level observed and unobserved characteristics that likely affect the parents' decision on child schooling and work such as credit opportunities, accessibility to school, school fees, and other factors. The indirect utility function is now obtained by substituting the vector of choices in equation (6) into the utility function in equation (1) to define the maximum utility households receive once decisions are made optimally,

$$V = U(\Gamma^*(W_t, \Pi_t, A_t, Y_t, X_t, \Psi)).$$
(8)

Schooling is a form of human capital enhancement, so an indirect utility function under schooling decision can be defined as

$$V_{s} = U(\Gamma^{*}(W_{s}, \Pi_{t}, A_{t}, Y_{t}, X_{t}, \Psi)).$$
(9)

Parents decide to send children to school instead of work at time *t* if they are better off with the enhanced human capital, i.e., if and only if

$$V_s - V_u \ge 0, \tag{10}$$

where V_u is the indirect utility under the no child schooling decision,

$$V_{u} = U(\Gamma^{*}(W_{u}, \Pi_{t}, A_{t}, Y_{t}, X_{t}, \Psi)).$$
(11)

3. Data

Data from Nepal, Peru, and Zimbabwe provide the key determinants of child labor participation and schooling decisions, focusing on the similarities and differences between the results of urban and rural areas from these countries. Data from three countries are used to examine child schooling and work decisions across three developing continents. Since the structure and the coverage of the data sets are nationally representative, reasonable comparisons can be made. In line with the objectives of the paper, results based on more than one country will help solidify or weaken the presumption that poverty drives child labor. Furthermore, this approach disaggregates households into urban and rural sectors to examine whether and how child work and schooling decisions differ by area of residence.

The data are from the 1990/91 Zimbabwe Income Expenditure Consumption Survey (ZICES), the 1994 Peru Living Standards Measurement Survey (PLSS), and the 1995 Nepal Living Standards Survey (NLSS). The respective governments and the World Bank conducted the PLSS and NLSS surveys jointly as part of the LSMS carried out in a number of developing countries, while the Central Statistical Office of Zimbabwe was responsible for conducting the ZICES.⁹ These three surveys are nationally representative, lending themselves for comparison on individual-, household-, and community-level characteristics. The PLSS covers about 3,623 households; the NPLSS, 3,373 households; and the ZICES, over 14,000 households. The Nepal and Zimbabwe surveys report child schooling and employment data for 3,617 and 15,467 children ages 10–17, respectively. The Peru sample contains child labor and child schooling information for 5,191 children ages 6–17.¹⁰ These large-scale household surveys provide information about children who work or do not work and those who attend or do not attend school, thus providing a model of child labor and schooling decisions.

Before discussing the descriptive results, it is important to describe how child labor supply is measured. The measurement of child labor depends on how it is defined and by ethical and cultural views. For some, all non-school, nonleisure activities of children constitute child labor. Others define it only as only full-time employment in economic activities or as "bad" child labor such as backbreaking work in quarries or mines. This paper defines child labor as hours in both wage and nonwage activities, as

⁹ There was access to both the1990/91 and 1995/96 Zimbabwe ICES data. The pre-drought and structural adjustment data, the 1990/91 ZICES, is used for this paper, since it is a better representation of normal times in Zimbabwe than the data following the economic instability due to drought and structural changes in the early 1990s (see Alwang, Ersado, and Taruvinga 2001 and Ersado, Alderman, and Alwang 2002). This will improve the comparability among the three countries and their respective data sets.

¹⁰ To facilitate comparison among countries, only Peruvian children ages 10–17 (about 3,599 children) are considered in this paper.

reported by these multipurpose, countrywide household surveys that are used to make up the child labor supply variable. This is in line with Skoufias and Parker (2002), who argue that such a broad measure provides a more accurate estimate of the household preferences toward leisure. Killingsworth and Heckman (1986) also claim that relying on hours of wage work only is likely to yield estimates that reflect substitution away from work at home as well as leisure.

Child Schooling and Employment Distribution by Age

Tables 1–3 show child employment participation and school enrollment rates for Nepal, Peru, and Zimbabwe by age, sex, and location. While nearly all children in Peru and Zimbabwe appear to be enrolled in school, about a quarter of Nepalese children have never been to school. For all age groups, current school attendance rates are lowest in Nepal (64 percent), followed by Zimbabwe (86 percent) and Peru (92 percent). Lower enrollment rates for Nepalese children may reflect a lack of access to good schools, but those enrolled appear to stay in school more than both Zimbabwean and Peruvian children.

The data from all countries show lower enrollment and higher employment rates in rural areas compared to urban areas. Disaggregating by age and sex shows that enrollment rate difference by gender grows wider with age in Zimbabwe than in either Peru or Nepal. Most of the decrease in enrollment rates for older age groups in Zimbabwe is due to more girls dropping out of schools than boys. While this is the case

		Enrollment						Employment						
	Urban			Rural			Urban				Rural			
Age	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total		
10	85.7	79.2	82.6	77.7	52.8	65.3	7.1	13.2	10.1	20.6	31.6	26.1		
11	86.8	87.9	87.3	78.3	64.3	71.0	5.3	0.0	2.8	26.8	34.5	30.8		
12	85.9	77.3	82.4	71.4	48.5	61.1	12.5	15.9	13.9	38.5	48.5	43.0		
13	85.1	71.8	79.1	75.2	50.3	64.5	17.0	20.5	18.6	40.2	49.7	44.3		
14	80.7	69.1	75.0	64.8	46.4	54.8	19.3	18.2	18.8	50.6	53.1	52.0		
15	79.6	75.5	77.6	56.1	35.5	46.5	24.5	18.4	21.4	55.6	66.3	60.6		
16	54.2	73.3	63.4	49.5	34.3	42.1	33.3	26.7	30.1	58.7	63.2	60.9		
17	73.8	65.8	70.0	42.4	33.3	37.9	31.0	18.4	25.0	59.7	66.7	63.2		
Total	79.3	74.7	77.1	65.5	46.1	56.1	18.5	16.9	17.7	42.9	50.8	46.7		

Table 1—Enrollment and employment rates among Nepalese children in 1995/96

 Table 2—Enrollment and employment rates among Peruvian children in 1994

	_		Enrol	lment		Employment							
		Urban		Rural				Urban			Rural		
Age	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	
10	96.8	95.7	96.3	94.7	91.2	92.8	9.5	6.0	7.8	55.8	35.4	44.7	
11	99.3	96.6	98.1	94.4	90.7	92.4	12.5	8.5	10.7	62.2	37.4	48.7	
12	96.9	96.3	96.6	88.6	91.3	90.0	10.9	8.9	9.8	71.4	48.1	59.8	
13	97.1	91.0	93.9	89.7	80.4	84.7	14.0	11.1	12.5	61.5	50.0	55.3	
14	95.6	91.3	93.3	75.0	78.3	76.5	26.3	14.3	19.8	76.0	62.7	69.9	
15	88.8	85.2	87.0	78.2	67.1	72.5	31.3	14.1	22.7	78.2	61.0	69.4	
16	84.9	77.1	81.1	71.4	58.1	63.8	29.5	18.6	24.1	89.3	59.5	72.3	
17	61.2	59.6	60.8	60.0	37.7	49.0	39.3	16.3	27.0	82.5	44.2	63.7	
Total	91.9	88.3	90.1	84.5	82.4	83.4	15.1	9.2	12.1	56.6	40.1	48.0	

Table 3—Enrollment and employment rates among Zimbabwean children in 1990/91

	Enrollment							Employment						
		Urban			Rural			Urban			Rural			
Age	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total		
10	98.4	99.3	98.9	95.7	95.6	95.7	0.4	1.1	0.8	3.0	2.6	2.8		
11	98.7	98.6	98.6	95.1	96.4	95.8	0.9	0.0	0.5	3.1	2.7	2.9		
12	99.0	96.5	97.8	94.6	93.5	94.0	0.5	1.5	1.0	5.1	4.4	4.8		
13	97.5	98.6	98.1	92.1	91.6	91.8	1.0	1.4	1.2	4.9	6.5	5.7		
14	94.8	91.0	92.6	89.7	83.3	86.7	1.1	5.6	3.7	7.9	13.5	10.5		
15	97.0	78.6	87.5	81.9	67.4	75.1	1.5	14.1	8.0	13.9	24.5	18.8		
16	88.9	70.9	78.5	76.0	60.3	68.4	2.4	18.4	11.6	17.4	32.6	24.7		
17	75.8	54.1	64.2	64.8	51.3	58.5	3.2	25.5	15.1	27.4	39.7	33.1		
Total	93.9	85.4	89.4	87.1	82.0	84.6	1.3	8.8	5.3	9.7	14.1	11.8		

for both urban and rural areas in Zimbabwe, rural areas of Peru and Nepal show the biggest disparity in enrollment rates between boys and girls. This evidence is indicative of more favor for schooling of boys than girls in rural areas, while school enrollment rates in urban areas do not appear to show a significant gender bias.

On the other hand, child employment rates go in an opposite direction to enrollment, possibly suggesting that dropping out of school is at least partly driven by employment decisions. In all countries, labor force participation grows with age. In urban areas overall, employment rates are higher for boys than for girls in Peru and higher for girls than for boys in Zimbabwe. In rural areas, female employment rates appear to be higher than they are for boys in Zimbabwe, while the opposite is the case in Peru. For all age groups and in both urban and rural areas, child employment rates are highest in Peru, closely followed by Nepal, and the lowest in Zimbabwe. This is particularly true in rural areas: while nearly half of Peruvian and Nepalese children are engaged in some kind of employment activity, less than 12 percent of Zimbabwean children claim to be so. It will be of great interest to see what household, community, and regional characteristics determine employment and schooling decisions in these countries.

Child Time Allocation by Residence and Sex

Table 4 presents child time allocation to schooling, employment, or both, by residence and gender. A large proportion of Peruvian children undertake both schooling and employment activities simultaneously. Interestingly, however, the proportion of

children who both work and go to school is higher than that of those who are employed only. In all three countries, rural children are more likely to go to school and work than are their urban counterparts. With regard to gender, fewer girls than boys attend school full-time, and more girls than boys are employed full-time and combine employment with schooling.

Peru Zimbabwe Nepal All Rural Urban All Rural Rural Urban Urban All (percent) By residence Schooling 52.4 46.6 75.8 64.6 42.4 78.7 87.0 85.9 90.9 Employment 26.8 30.8 10.6 5.6 10.1 2.8 8.3 10.0 2.8 9.4 37.7 11.8 13.6 4.6 20.3 0.4 0.3 0.5 Both Neither 9.0 9.0 9.1 9.5 9.8 9.2 4.3 3.9 5.9 100.0 Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 Girls Girls Girls Bovs Boys Boys (percent) By sex 59.5 44.9 67.2 62.0 89.8 84.2 Schooling Employment 21.2 32.6 4.7 6.6 6.1 10.6 14.5 15.5 25.4 Both 9.1 0.3 0.4 Neither 4.8 13.4 3.8 4.8 12.7 6.1 Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Table 4—Children's time allocation into employment, schooling, and/or both

The Role of Children in the Household

The means of selected household and community characteristics variables are presented in Table 5. At the household level, men's share of household income is highest in Nepal, followed by Zimbabwe and Peru. In all countries, women and children's share of household income grows, while the corresponding share for men's tends to shrink in urban areas. Children's share of household income is largest in Nepal, while there is a

		Nepal			Peru			Zimbabw	ve
	All	Urban	Rural	All	Urban	Rural	All	Urban	Rural
Household size	5.59	5.28	5.67	5.38	5.31	5.50	5.03	4.32	5.43
Urban (yes)	0.19			0.61			0.25		
Child Sex (female)	0.48	0.45	0.49	0.51	0.50	0.52	0.50	0.52	0.49
Child age	13.28	13.33	13.3	13.5	13.62	13.18	13.2	13.40	13.18
Man's share of total income	0.81	0.72	0.82	0.73	0.69	0.79	0.75	0.84	0.65
Woman's share of total income	0.12	0.23	0.10	0.24	0.28	0.17	0.20	0.16	0.25
Child's share of total income	0.06	0.03	0.07	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.02	0.002	0.04
Ratio of child's to man's labor hours	0.27	0.13	0.31	0.12	0.08	0.19	0.06	0.02	0.08
Ratio of child's to woman's labor hours	0.30	0.26	0.31	0.36	0.26	0.49	0.11	0.05	0.12
Child ever been to school (yes)	0.68	0.86	0.67	0.99	1.00	0.98	0.99	0.99	0.99
Child attending school (yes)	0.61	0.80	0.60	0.85	0.88	0.80	0.88	0.91	0.87
Child employed (yes)	0.40	0.13	0.42	0.26	0.12	0.48	0.08	0.03	0.10
Community-level characteristics									
School expenses ^a	82.9	217.2	66.1	106.5	137.5	42.8	28.4	65.19	18.07
Man's wage per hour	15.24	17.04	15.01	2.70	3.33	1.40	0.16	0.40	0.09
Woman's wage per hour	15.77	17.32	15.58	2.07	2.49	1.20	0.09	0.27	0.04
Child's wage per hour	9.37	8.56	9.47	0.93	1.05	0.67	0.05	0.10	0.04
Electricity (yes)	0.33	0.89	0.25	0.74	0.97	0.26	0.21	0.87	0.03
Water storage (1=best, 5=worst)	3.50	2.98	3.57	2.22	1.49	3.71	3.52	1.49	4.09

Table 5—Means of selected variables

^a Monetary figures are nominal and presented at the year of survey and using respective currency of each country (i.e., rupees for Nepal, sols for Peru, and Z\$ for Zimbabwe).

negligible difference between Peru and Zimbabwe. Rural children in Zimbabwe contribute more to household income than do their urban counterparts. Similarly, in rural Nepal, children contribute a nontrivial 7 percent of household income, compared to only 3 percent for their urban counterparts. It should be noted that quantifying the share of child-generated welfare for a household would be difficult and may be easily underestimated, since children contribute in several ways that are not reflected in monetary terms. In addition, the data may be deficient due to a high likelihood of underreporting of the incomes generated by even gainfully employed and remunerated children (Basu 1999).

Table 5 also presents the ratio of children's labor hours to both men's and women's in the household. Child labor participation in all countries is closely related to their relative contribution to household income. Child labor participation is lowest in Zimbabwe, as is their share in overall household income. Urban-rural disparities are interesting: the ratio of child labor hours to both men's and women's is larger in rural areas in all countries, underscoring the abundance of child labor in rural household chores. However, the urban child-labor environment is still alarming, with the ratio of child-labor hours to adult-labor hours in excess of 1 to 10 in both Peru and Nepal. The descriptive statistics suggest that the rate of incidence of child labor varies from country to country and by urban and rural areas within countries, but all country evidence confirms that the number of children working is high enough to make the issue a matter of important concern.

4. The Empirical Model

A parent's decision to send a child to school, work, or both is a time allocation decision. Thus the decision whether a child works or goes to school is a joint one as both activities could be competing for child's time. An econometric specification that explicitly takes this interdependency into account can be obtained from equation (10). Rewriting equation (10) using a random utility function for $V_s(.)$ and $V_u(.)$, and restating the decision in terms of probabilities enables us to characterize child schooling and work decisions jointly. We use a bivariate probit model to test the likelihood of children

working and going to school conditional on varying individual, household, and community characteristics. A bivariate probit model allows for the existence of possible correlated disturbance between two probit equations. It also allows us to test whether the joint estimation has significantly more explanatory power compared to using univariate probit estimation for each decision.

Let y_1^* be the latent variable representing the decision to work and y_2^* represent the decision of schooling. Then, using the notations in equations (8)-(10), the bivariate probit specification will take the following general structure¹¹:

$$y_{1}^{*} = V_{u} + \eta_{u}, \qquad y_{1} = 1 \text{ if } V_{u} > 0, \quad 0 \text{ otherwise}$$

$$y_{2}^{*} = V_{s} + \eta_{s}, \qquad y_{2} = 1 \text{ if } V_{s} > 0, \quad 0 \text{ otherwise}$$

$$E[\eta_{u}] = E[\eta_{s}] = 0, \quad V[\eta_{u}] = V[\eta_{s}] = 1, \quad C[\eta_{u}, \eta_{s}] = \rho \quad , \qquad (12)$$

$$[\eta_{u}, \eta_{s}] \sim BVN[0, 0, 1, 1, \rho]$$

where η_s and η_u are error terms with normal distributions, and ρ is the coefficient of correlation between the two equations; *E*, *V*, *C*, and *BVN* stand for expectation, variance, covariance, and bivariate normal distribution functions, respectively.

Explanatory Variables, Endogeneity Issues, and Empirical Strategy

In line with the objectives of the paper and the conceptual model presented in Section 2, an extensive list of explanatory variables was used to examine the relative role

¹¹ See Greene (1997) for a good description of bivariate probit model and Canagarajah and Coulombe (1998) for an application to child labor and schooling decisions.

of several individual, household, and community variables on both child schooling and work decisions. The explanatory variables include measures of labor market conditions, poverty, credit access, school availability and cost, and variables accounting for household domestic responsibilities. These variables are considered as main determinants of child labor in the literature, but there is no consensus as to which is most important. We anticipate that the role of these variables varies significantly between rural and urban areas. The following briefly discusses the rationale for the selection of the main explanatory variables and the steps taken to address potential endogeneity problems.

Child- and adult-labor market conditions are measured by average wage paid per hour at the community level, not wage rates derived at individual levels. Communitylevel average wages provide a better description of prevailing labor market conditions than individual-level wages, and they are based on wages reported by individuals who actually work. Furthermore, being community-level averages, they are less prone to endogeneity problems. Since incomplete pooling of resources among household members appears to be the norm (Strauss and Thomas 1995), adult female and male wage variables are included separately to capture the differential impact of both women and men's incomes on work and schooling decisions for their children. Explicit inclusion of separate wage educational-level variables for men and women thus relaxes the unitary modeling assumption and reflects differences in preference and bargaining power between mother and father.

Credit access is found to be very difficult to measure from Living Standard Measurement Surveys, which usually ask if a given household had a loan and bank accounts. Having a loan alone is not a good measure of access to credit since households who did not report receiving a loan might have access to credit but no need to borrow. Note also that credit constraints are more likely to bind for the poor since their incomes are low and more risky, thus making credit access potentially endogenous to schooling and work decisions. As a result, only access to a commercial branch bank at the community level is used as a proxy measure of access to the formal credit market. Since this still is not a significant measure of access to credit, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Other common determinants that figure predominantly in child labor empirical work, such as parent's educational level, head age, and sex, are among the explanatory variables. Also included is a measure of "domestic responsibilities" in terms of the number of very young children in the household. This may adversely affect child schooling decisions and may be even more detrimental of schooling of girls. It is widely accepted that girls are more likely than boys to help their mothers with housework and childcare. Gender disparities in education could also arise due to differences in expected earnings or remittance propensities among boys and girls. The inclusion of a child gender dummy will address these and other possibilities that lead to differential employment and enrollments rates among boys and girls. Another variable of interest is whether the mother works outside the home, which may be correlated with child working

decisions; a dummy variable that indicates if a mother works outside the home is used to capture this effect.

Some school-related variables at community level—the number of schools available and the cost of schooling per pupil—are included among explanatory variables.¹² School accessibility can affect schooling decisions to the extent that childtime spent going to and from school entails a significant opportunity cost to the parent. Educational expenses per pupil could be a good measure of educational resources available to students as well as their teachers in terms of facilities, tuition, books, and other school related expenses. Thus the cost of schooling is included because it could be an important determinant of the likelihood of child work. All right-hand side variables are carefully selected in such a way that consistent reduced-form estimation is achieved by excluding potential endogenous variables. The inclusion of regional dummies and community-level characteristics variables helps capture variation in productivity, labor demand, and differences in other aspects, such as culture and attitude.

Finally, in accordance with the theoretical model, the household-level poverty measure is based on nonwage income from various sources, such as profits from selfemployment in farming and nonfarming activities, interest from household assets, and other nonlabor income sources. This measure takes into account the intertemporal nature of child schooling and work decisions as shown in equation (6). However, nonwage

¹² Specific household- or school-level variables are likely to suffer from endogeneity. For instance, household expenses on education are incurred only for children for whom the decision was made to enroll in school. Such variables are endogenous to child labor decisions. This problem is circumvented by averaging household-level, school-related variables over relevant geographic units in the survey, or by using community-level variables whenever possible.

income may be endogenous to child labor and schooling decisions, primarily due to the fact that children may contribute to nonwage income through involvement in family farming and nonfarming activities that do not pay wages.¹³ But this measure is an improvement over most previous studies on child labor and schooling decisions that use total household income as an explanatory variable. It is anticipated that nonwage income suffers less from endogeneity problems compared to total household income, which includes both wage income and nonwage incomes.

The empirical strategy used to address the potential endogeneity of nonwage income is through an instrumental variable approach. Two regimes are estimated, using nonwage income as a measure of poverty, and an instrumental variable estimation in which household asset ownership are used as instruments for nonwage income. There is also testing for endogeneity using Smith and Blundell's (1986) exogeneity test. In this case, the test involves specifying that the exogeneity of nonwage income is under suspicion. Under the null hypothesis, the models are appropriately specified with all explanatory variables exogenous. Under the alternative hypothesis, the suspected endogenous variable, nonwage income, is expressed as linear projection of a set of instruments, and the residuals from those first-stage regressions are added to the model. Under the null hypothesis, these residuals should have no explanatory power. Once the standard order condition for identification of the model is met, the significance of the coefficient on the residual term is used to establish endogeneity of nonwage income.

¹³ One might also argue that nonwage income represents the accumulation of assets related to labor income over the life cycle. However, this presents less of a problem when dealing with child labor income.

5. Empirical Results

The joint schooling and employment results are estimated with and without instrumenting for nonwage income, which is used as a measure of poverty. Instruments for nonwage income were the value of household asset holdings for Nepal and Peru, and a vector of asset holding indicator dummies for Zimbabwe.¹⁴ Both results are reported. Appendix Tables 6 and 7 present bivariate probit model estimates of child labor and schooling decisions for rural areas, while Appendix Tables 8 and 9 do so for urban areas. In general, the coefficients on nonwage income appreciably reduces in its absolute magnitude after instrumenting, thus indicating an upward bias in the non-instrumented coefficient of household income.¹⁵

The joint estimation of schooling and work is appropriate as the likelihood ratio tests of the hypothesis that the correlation between the error terms (ρ) is zero are soundly rejected for all cases except for Peru.¹⁶ A significantly negative ρ implies that some unobserved factors that increase the probability of attending school decrease the likelihood of working. Schooling and child labor are thus competing activities. On the

¹⁴ Asset values were not given for the Zimbabwe data. A set of dummy variables that indicate ownership of different asset types was used as instruments for Zimbabwe.

¹⁵ See Psacharopoulos (1997), Patrinos and Psacharopoulos (1997), Grootaert (1998), Grootaert and Patrinos (1998), Canagarajah and Coulombe (1998), and others for discussion on endogeneity of household income and potential upward bias in its coefficient. The upward bias may be due to the entanglement of substitution effects with income effects when some productive assets are used to proxy income (Bhalotra 2000b).

¹⁶ There is no definitive positive or negative correlation between child schooling and employment decisions in rural Peru. Compared to Nepal and Zimbabwe results, much less significant negative correlation exists between schooling and employment decisions on urban Peru as well.

other hand, schooling and working decisions appear rather noncompetitive in Peru, but there is insufficient evidence to claim these decisions are complementary.

The lack of significantly negative association between child schooling and work decisions in Peru is contrary to the common perception that child schooling is an inverse of child labor decisions. While the argument that anything that promotes school attendance is likely to dent child labor is quite sensible, the Peruvian case provides counterevidence that the two activities are not necessarily competitive. The descriptive statistics showed that the proportion of those children who work and go to school at the same time is highest in Peru.

The intensity of work also merits attention since the hours of work could exhibit substantial variability among the children who are reported to be in the labor force. The intensity of work—hours of work per week—is estimated as a function of the same set of variables employed in the joint modeling of schooling and work decisions using a Tobit and instrumental variables Tobit (IV Tobit¹⁷) estimators. The estimates of child labor supply are presented on Appendix Tables 10 and 11 for rural and urban areas, respectively. Factors that significantly affect child employment decisions continue to affect the number of hours children actually work in the same direction. As such, intensity of work results is discussed concurrently with the joint schooling and work estimation, and labor supply estimates only referred to when there are additional insights to be gained. In the next sections child labor and schooling estimates are discussed,

¹⁷ See Smith and Blundell (1986) for a description of IV Tobit.

focusing on the similarities and differences between cross-country results, and separately for rural and urban areas.

Rural Child Labor and Schooling Decisions

Appendix Tables 6 and 7 present a bivariate probit and instrumental variables estimates for rural areas. The Smith and Blundell exogeneity test indicates that nonwage income is endogenous in the child labor and schooling decisions. Significance of instruments test shows strong support that household asset holdings are a relevant instrument for nonwage income (with p-value < 0.0001).¹⁸

All country results indicate that child schooling is negatively associated with age and female gender, as girls' and older children's school attendance rates are significantly lower than those for boys and younger children. Correspondingly, the probability of being employed rises significantly with age in all three countries. The likelihood of employment also increases with girls in Nepal and Zimbabwe, but in rural Peru, boys tend to have higher propensities for employment.

The impact of rural child labor market conditions on schooling and work, as measured by child labor wages at the community level, is effectively zero for all countries except the non-instrumented estimates for rural Nepal, casting doubt on the hypothesis that improved labor market conditions drive child labor, at least in rural areas. In rural Nepal, the non-instrumental estimates indicate that higher wages for child labor

¹⁸ Bound, Jaeger, and Baker (1995) suggest that the F statistic of the identifying instruments in the first-stage is a useful indicator of the quality of the IV estimates.

lead to higher enrollment rates, lower probability of employment, and significantly fewer hours of work per week for those children who work. This outcome, although it appears counterintuitive from the viewpoint that higher wages should lead agents to work more hours, is quite plausible if subsistence constraints are binding. In other words, if households are very poor and they risk falling below subsistence requirements in the absence of child earnings, a decrease in child wages must be compensated for by an increase in child work hours or by bringing more children to the work force in order to meet the subsistence target.¹⁹ On the other hand, evidence exists that improved labor market conditions for other adult household members lead to higher enrollment rates and less employment for Nepalese children, and lower employment rates for Peruvian children. Also, higher wages for adult women in rural Zimbabwe are associated with a low prevalence of child labor.

In rural Nepal and Zimbabwe, there is supportive evidence, from both instrumental and non-instrumental estimates, for Basu and Van's (1998) luxury axiom that states—"A family will send the children to the labor market only if the family's income from nonchild-labor sources drops very low." While poverty reduces the probability of child schooling, it increases the probability of child employment and intensity of work significantly. The labor supply estimates in Appendix Table 10 show that if a Nepalese household had its nonlabor assets increased by 100 rupees, it would

¹⁹ This result is similar to Bhalotra's (2000a), who finds significantly negative wage elasticity for boys in rural Pakistan. She finds that if the wage rate drops, boys work more hours to make up for the loss in earnings. On the other hand, a higher wage rate is associated with less work. Indeed, her *poverty hypothesis* is based on the outcome that the wage elasticity is negative.

decrease child labor hours by about 5.76 hours per week. Zimbabwean households would decrease child work hours by about 4.90 hours per week if there were a temporary positive shock (an increase of 100 Zimbabwe dollars) that would make liquidity constraints less binding. In annual terms, these are significant reductions in child labor hours, as would be predicted by Basu and Van's (1998) model. If the household's decision to send children to work stems from survival concerns, as the evidence from rural Nepal and Zimbabwe indicates, the adult labor market results make it reasonable to expect that parents would not send their children to work if their own wages were higher or employment opportunities wide enough to enable them to pass beyond the subsistence threshold. In rural Peru, nonwage wealth appears to have no impact on child labor and schooling decisions, thus providing neither support for nor evidence against the notion that poverty drives child labor.

Other household-level variables, such as the educational levels of both the highest educated man and woman in the family, significantly improve child education and decrease the likelihood of employment and intensity of work in all three countries. This finding reinforces the universally accepted notion that parental education is the most consistent determinant of child education and employment decisions. Higher domestic responsibilities in terms of the number of young children under age 5 do not lead to an increase in the likelihood that their older siblings work in rural areas. However, mothers working outside the home means a higher probability of children working in Nepal and Peru, although it also appears to improve child schooling in rural Nepal. The positive effect on child schooling of the mother working outside the home in rural Nepal may be

explained by a higher income effect, which makes it possible to pay for daycare and domestic help, so children are not necessarily taken out of school when their mothers work. But for lower income families, it is likely the case that a mother working outside the home means less schooling and more work for children.

Rural infrastructure and school-related community-level variables significantly affect schooling and work decisions in all countries. Higher average educational expenses at the community level appear to improve school enrollment rates and correspondingly decrease child employment and intensity of work in rural Nepal and Zimbabwe. Similarly a higher number of schools in a given community leads to higher enrollment and lower employment rates and work hours per week in Nepal. Thus, to the extent that the number of schools and school-related expenditures in terms of tuition, books, teacher salaries, fewer students per teacher, etc., are indicators of school accessibility and quality, improving the availability of good schools could lead to less child labor and more child schooling.

In rural Nepal and Zimbabwe, access to a commercial bank has a positive effect on schooling and a negative impact on employment. Credit access appears to have higher negative effect on employment than its corresponding positive effect on schooling. This may imply that credits are sought more to smooth consumption risks and other household needs than for child schooling purposes. Rural credit needs are driven by incidental risks and for temporary shocks, more so than a long-term goal of child schooling. This may imply that in the absence of such credit schemes, child labor may become part of a strategy to minimize the risk of interruption of income stream, for example, a risk of

failed harvest, etc. This finding is in concurrence with Jacoby and Skoufias's (1997) and Sawada's (1999) empirical evidence that children are taken out of school in response to household income shocks in rural India and Pakistan, respectively. In both rural Nepal and Zimbabwe, there is evidence that credit access reduces child labor and improves child school enrollment, thus supporting Ranjan's (1999) and Lahiri and Jaffrey (1999) argument that an incomplete credit market could be driving child labor. In rural Peru, on the other hand, access to loan and banking services appears to increase employment and decrease schooling.

Urban Child Labor and Schooling Decisions

Appendix Tables 8 and 9 present the results for urban areas. Although the Smith and Blundell test rejects the exogeneity of nonwage, the evidence is weaker for urban areas. As discussed below, the reason for this weak evidence might be due to the fact that, unlike in rural areas, poverty is not a good determinant of schooling and work decisions in urban areas. Significance of instruments test supports that household asset holdings are a relevant instrument for nonwage income (with p-value < 0.0001).

Similar to rural cases, it is clear that in urban areas, older children are less likely to go to school and girls are less likely to stay in school than boys in all three countries (see Appendix Tables 8 and 9). One can argue that as children grow older and acquire skills, the opportunity cost of schooling rises. Child age continues to be positively correlated with the likelihood of employment and number of hours worked. However, the impact of gender on employment is mixed in urban areas: boys (girls) are more likely to be employed in Peru (Zimbabwe) and gender is insignificant in urban Nepal. Improved child labor markets provide strong incentives for child employment in urban Peru. The Peruvian result is comparable with findings in other Latin American countries that suggest improved market conditions drive child labor (see, for instance, Levison, Moe, and Knaul 1999 and Binder 1999). Peru, among all three countries examined in this paper, has the largest proportion of children who are both working and going to school at the same time (see Table 4). The fact that child wage is positively associated with the employment decision may imply that some children work for the purpose of earning educational expenses. The number of hours children work also increases significantly with child labor wages in urban areas of Peru and Zimbabwe.

Sufficient evidence from urban areas of all three countries for Basu and Van's (1998) luxury axiom that poverty drives child labor is not found. Similar analysis done separately for boys and girls by Ray (2000a) also shows no evidence for the luxury axiom in Peru. Although the theoretical literature on child labor such as the seminal paper by Basu and Van (1998) tends to lead many to believe that poverty is the primary cause of child employment, this result shows that poverty does not appear to be the main culprit in determining child labor in urban areas. While studies that lump together urban and rural areas obscure these differences and their results become hard to interpret, examining urban and rural child labor responses separately thus enabled a scrutinizing of the validity

and applicability of the luxury axiom. More evidence for it exists in rural areas and less or no evidence for it in urban areas.²⁰

Household educational level variables, especially woman's education, continues to significantly reduce the probability of child labor and improve the likelihood of children being in school in all cases. Parental educational level has been critical in improving household livelihood and food and nutritional status of children (Ruel et al. 1999; Strauss and Thomas 1995). The urban result is similar to the rural and the results from other studies that underline the importance that parental, especially mother's, education on children's human capital development.

A measure of domestic responsibilities, number of young children under age 5, plays a critical role by keeping children away from school and forcing them into work. This result is contrary to the rural result that showed insignificant impact for the number of young children in the household. The urban result is consistent with the findings of Cochrane, Kozel, and Alderman (1990), who report the presence of children under five in the household significantly reduces the educational participation of girls. Similarly a positive likelihood that a mother works outside the home drives child employment decisions in all countries. This urban-rural differential in the impact of domestic responsibilities and mother working decision may be due to the availability of extended family and kin members to help in childcaring activities in rural areas more so than in urban areas. Rural mothers may also have greater control over their time allocation for

²⁰ Empirical work by others, such as Canagarajah and Coulombe (1997) for Ghana, also finds that poverty is not a major determinant of child schooling and work decisions.

childcare and work due to the nature of their job, such as working on own agricultural fields, while the urban workingwomen could be working in factories and under supervision of employers. Moreover, it may be easier to combine childcare with work in rural than urban areas. The availability of alternative childcare options such as providing working mothers with firm-level childcare for working mothers will likely have more impact in urban areas in terms of lessening the responsibility born by school-age children in taking care of their younger siblings while mothers are away for work. It would also significantly free them up to go to school, as the evidence from these countries suggests. It has been observed that the presence of a daycare center decreases the likelihood that children engage in work at home (DeGraff, Bilsborrow, and Herrin 1993; Goonesekere 1993). Also note that having a working mother does lead to significantly more hours of work in urban areas of all countries (see Table 1).

Urban infrastructure and school-related community-level variables do not factor in schooling and work decisions in urban Nepal and Zimbabwe, unlike in the rural areas. However, in urban Peru, educational expenses at the community level appear to improve child school enrollment rates. Similar observations were made for another Latin American country by Brown (2001), who states that "...an increased cost of schooling is associated with a lower probability of work by Colombian children." Brown also suggests that, at least in the Colombian case, the cost of schooling is a proxy for school quality. The deficiencies in facilities, teacher salaries, and other educational supplies are reported to be pervasive in both rural and urban Peru (Brown 2001). For instance, citing the Ministry of Education of Peru, Brown points out that even in metropolitan Lima, only

60 percent of schools have electricity. If school-related expenditures in terms of tuition, books, teacher salaries, etc., are plausible indicators of school quality in Peru, our empirical results suggest that improving school quality would likely keep more children in school.

6. Summary and Policy Implications

The literature in child labor and schooling is voluminous and continually growing. However, studies are scant that simultaneously examine the various factors impacting child labor and schooling, such as poverty, credit access, labor market conditions, household domestic responsibilities, school expenditures, and parental educational levels, along with community characteristics important in such decisions. One of the main aims of this paper is to examine the impact of one factor while controlling for others at the same time. It is hoped that such an approach will help shed light on the debate over the correlates of child labor.

This paper also examines urban and rural decisions separately, with the anticipation that urban-rural differentials in livelihood strategies and opportunities could be reflected in child employment and schooling decisions. Aggregating urban and rural child labor, as is commonly done in some empirical studies, could obscure the differential impact of some factors on urban and rural child schooling and work decisions. The simultaneous examination of a list of determinants of child schooling and employment decisions will enable us to identify the factors that are more important than others while

investigating their pertinence across countries and urban and rural areas within a given country.

In all three countries and urban and rural areas alike, adult educational levels are essential factors in child employment and education, with a significant contribution to reduction of child labor and improvement in the likelihood that children stay in school. In concurrence with empirical evidence from other Latin American countries, improved child labor market conditions in terms of higher wages per hour increases both the probability and intensity of work in urban Peru and Zimbabwe, with no appreciable effect in rural areas. Improvement in labor market conditions for adult labor leads to a lower probability of child labor and a higher probability of schooling. Bolstering adult wages may thus help curb child labor participation and increase the probability that children stay in school.

While poverty drives child work and schooling decisions in rural areas, it does not appear to significantly influence schooling and work participation rates in urban areas. In rural areas, policies such as trade sanctions or a ban on child labor thus could have an adverse effect on both the household and the children because child labor decisions are more likely in response to poverty and subsistence requirements. The rural evidence thus is in line with the seminal paper on the economics of child labor by Basu and Van (1998).

Credit access, albeit measured imprecisely by access to a commercial bank, is likely to improve enrollment rates and decrease employment rates in rural areas of Nepal and Zimbabwe, in convergence with the theoretical results forwarded, for instance, by Ranjan (1999) and Lahiri and Jaffrey (1999). Credit constraints are more likely to be

bound for the rural poor since their incomes are lower and more risky. Thus with credit access, the rural poor in Nepal and Zimbabwe may find it a viable option to use credit to send their children to school and thus help cut the transmission of poverty across generations. However, credit access does not play a similar role in urban areas of these two countries. Access to credit may have actually enabled rural Peruvian parents to overcome entry barriers and venture into their own entrepreneurial activities in which child labor may be utilized when there are incomplete labor markets.

Household domestic responsibilities in terms of the number of young children under 5 and the likelihood that mother works away from the home have more significant impact on urban child labor and schooling decisions than on those of rural areas. This implies that the availability of alternative childcare options would be more critical for working urban mothers compared to their rural counterparts.

Summing up, the evidence from Nepal, Peru, and Zimbabwe indicates that the impact of poverty on children depends on location. While there is strong evidence that poverty drives child labor in rural areas, there is a general lack of support for a poverty hypothesis in urban areas. Similarly improving credit access has greater potential for alleviating child labor and enhancing school enrollment in rural than urban areas, particularly in Nepal and Zimbabwe. Finally, the evidence from all three countries and both urban and rural areas indicates that the availability of good schools, and efforts to bolster adult educational levels and wages, will help curb the prevalence and intensity of child labor and improve the likelihood that children stay in school.

Appendix Tables

	N	epal	ł	Peru	Zim	babwe
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment
Sex (female)	-0.679	0.172	-0.273	-0.624	-0.326	0.329
	(12.87)***	(3.44)***	(3.14)***	(8.63)***	(9.94)***	(9.50)***
Age	-0.153	0.200	-0.244	0.088	-0.262	0.244
	(12.69)***	(17.07)***	(12.09)***	(5.43)***	(32.97)***	(29.45)***
Child wage	0.037	-0.036	0.071	0.195	-0.165	-0.027
	(2.20)***	(2.40)***	(0.33)	(1.13)	(0.39)	(0.06)
Man's wage	0.009	-0.006	0.467	-0.680	-0.090	0.475
	(3.36)***	(2.40)***	(1.30)	(2.93)***	(0.25)	(1.24)
Woman's wage	-0.005	0.005	0.054	-0.253	0.460	-0.933
	(1.56)	(1.81)	(0.31)	(1.73)	(0.97)	(1.81)*
Nonwage income	.711	-0.306	0.507	-0.297	1.386	-1.624
	(10.67)***	(4.97)***	(0.73)	(0.49)	(4.05)***	(4.48)***
# Young children	-0.023	0.046	-0.043	-0.063	-0.036	0.049
	(1.13)	(2.35)*	(1.07)	(1.80)*	(2.55)**	(3.33)***
Head sex (female)	-0.155	-0.174	0.237	0.280	0.129	-0.115
	(1.79)*	(2.03)*	(1.58)	(2.11)**	(3.30)***	(2.80)***
Head age	0.041	-0.021	-0.050	0.020	-0.025	0.021
	(1.84)*	(0.98)	(1.25)	(0.58)	(1.95)*	(1.57)
Man's education	0.063	-0.034	0.166	-0.143	0.065	-0.069
	(8.89)***	(5.22)***	(2.49)*	(2.64)***	(6.52)***	(6.56)***
Woman's education	0.063	-0.048	0.154	-0.116	0.144	-0.111
<u> </u>	(5.28)***	(4.53)***	(2.36)**	(2.19)**	(12.82)***	(9.45)***
Mother works outside home	0.294	0.166	0.261	0.659	-0.340	0.403
	(3.43)***	(1.99)**	(2.22)**	(6.01)***	(3.72)***	(3.89)***
Community-level variables						
Educational expenses	0.011	-0.016	1.550	0.375	1.257	-2.029
	(1.96)*	(2.92)***	(1.31)	(0.40)	(4.05)***	(6.20)***
Access to a bank (1=yes, 0=no)	0.081	-0.270	-1.959	2.870	0.289	-0.382
	(1.03)	(3.61)***	(1.30)	(2.57)*	(2.97)***	(3.71)***
Number of schools	0.052	-0.024				
	(5.80)***	(2.84)***	0.250	0.122	0.220	0.071
Water storage (1=best, 5=worst)	-0.151	0.13/	0.258	-0.132	0.238	-0.0/1
	(3.83)***	(3.72)***	(1.26)	(0.82)	(5.82)***	(1.58)
Electricity	0.096	-0.097	0.878	-0.846		
Same and the set from the set from the set (1-based from the set)	(1.34)	(1.43)	(1.28)	(1./8)*		
Sewage disposal (1=best, 5=worst)			0.182	0.026		
Pagional dummios			(0.87)	(0.10)		
Regional dummes	0.189	0.040				
Kulai West-IIII	(2.40)*	(0.65)				
Pural Fast Hill	0.241	0.174				
Kulai East-IIII	(2.87)***	(2.18)*				
Rural-West Tera	0.145	0.148				
itului west felu	(1.58)	(1.68)*				
Siera North	(1.50)	(1.00)	-0.288	-0.251		
Siela Horai			(2.07)**	(2 11)**		
Siera Central			0.329	0.265		
			(2.10)**	(2.36)**		
Selva Alta North			-0.697	-0.205		
			(3.84)***	(1.23)		
Selva Alta South			0.289	-0.406		
			(0.89)	(1.54)		
Selva Baja			-0.675	0.331		
v			(4.76)***	(2.75)***		
Coastal North			-0.156	-0.377		
			(0.86)	(2.44)**		
Coastal South			-0.458	-0.685		
			(1.22)	(1.66)*		
			. /		1	1

Table 6—Joint child and schooling decisions in rural areas

(continued)

	Ν	epal	I	Peru	Zim	babwe	
	(1) Sahaalina	(2)	(3) Sahaalina	(4)	(5) Sahaaliaa	(6) E1	
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	
<u> </u>					0.125	0.146	
Mashonaland N					-0.135	0.146	
					(2.08)**	(2.14)**	
Mashonaland E					0.028	0.016	
					(0.36)	(0.19)	
Mashonaland W					0.141	-0.304	
					(1.98)**	(3.94)***	
Matabeleland N					-0.179	0.165	
					(2.16)**	(1.92)	
Matabeleland S					-0.247	0.311	
					(3.30)***	(3.98)***	
Midlands					0.175	-0.134	
					(2.73)***	(2.01)**	
Masvingo					-0.136	0.104	
					(2.14)*	(1.56)	
Constant	1.325	-2.400	1.542	-0.321	3.625	-4.217	
	(4.27)***	(8.18)***	(1.07)	(0.31)	(15.52)***	(16.55)***	
ρ	-0.760		0	.025	-0	.980	
Wald test	$X^{2}(40) = 907.0***$		$X^{2}(48) =$	= 457.5***	$X^{2}(44) = 1,548.6^{***}$		
Likelihood ratio test: $\rho = 0$	d ratio test: $\rho = 0$ $X^2(1) = 661.9^{***}$		$X^{2}(1)$	= 0.1804	$\overline{X^2(1)} = 4,013.8^{***}$		
Observations	2,879	2,879	1,395	1,395	11,523	11,523	

Notes: Absolute value of Z statistics in parentheses. * is significant at 10 percent; ** is significant at 5 percent; *** is significant at 1 percent.

	N	epal	P	Peru	Zim	babwe
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment
Sex (female)	-0.644	0.134	-0.257	-0.660	-0.328	0.356
Age	0.167	(2.08)***	0.234	0.072	(8.18)***	(8.42)***
Age	(13 20)***	(16.72)***	(8 57)***	(3.14)***	(27.81)***	(24.87)***
Child wage	0.005	-0.008	-0.030	0 342	0 557	-0.073
ennu wuge	(0.27)	(0.48)	(0.11)	(1.55)	(0.99)	(0.12)
Man's wage	0.010	-0.005	0.527	-0.751	-0.328	0.662
0	(3.52)***	(2.00)**	(1.42)	(3.12)***	(0.71)	(1.38)
Woman's wage	-0.003	0.004	0.022	-0.154	1.444	-1.840
	(1.07)	(1.47)	(0.12)	(0.98)	(2.39)**	(2.82)***
Nonwage income (predicted)	0.747	-0.184	-0.143	0.196	0.746	-0.602
	(5.16)***	(1.72)*	(0.54)	(0.85)	(7.51)***	(5.78)***
Residuals from first-stage regression	0.102	-0.042	0.156	-0.027	0.015	-0.023
	(3.20)***	(1.76)	(1.14)	(0.23)	(1.07)	(1.62)
# Young children	0.009	0.026	-0.102	0.019	-0.088	0.044
	(0.41)	(1.25)	(0.87)	(0.19)	(3.67)***	(1.78)
Head sex (female)	-0.157	-0.079	0.031	0.515	0.012	-0.016
	(1.84)*	(0.92)	(0.08)	(1.63)	(0.23)	(0.30)
Head age	0.085	-0.034	-0.035	-0.010	-0.012	0.021
Man's advantion	(3.88)***	(1.03)	(0.58)	0.177	(0.80)	(1.31)
Man's education	(5.15)***	-0.030	(2.00)**	-0.1//	(6.57)***	-0.084
Woman's education	0.065	0.051	0.217	0.207	0.118	0.079
woman's education	(5 57)***	(4 89)***	(1.72)*	(1.92)*	(8 56)***	(5 52)***
Mother works outside home	0.209	0.326	0.161	0.812	-0.089	0.157
	(2.45)**	(3.84)***	(0.81)	(4.54)***	(0.80)	(1.25)
Community-level variables		()	(111)		()	
Educational expenses	0.038	-0.026	1.462	0.500	-0.654	-0.511
	(6.49)***	(4.72)***	(1.20)	(0.53)	(1.47)	(1.09)
Access to a bank (yes)	0.088	-0.283	-2.455	3.327	0.243	-0.404
	(1.12)	(3.76)***	(1.48)	(2.61)***	(2.03)**	(3.18)***
Number of schools	0.075	-0.039				
	(8.23)***	(4.66)***				
Water storage (1=best, 5=worst)	-0.160	0.133	0.280	-0.177	0.334	-0.146
	(4.01)***	(3.62)***	(1.36)	(1.10)	(6.04)***	(2.43)**
Electricity	-0.002	-0.090	1.064	-0.86/		
S	(0.03)	(1.29)	(1.48)	(1./3)*		
Sewage disposal (1=best, 5=worst)			0.184	(0.45)		
Regional dummies			(0.80)	(0.43)		
Rural West-Hill	0.327	0.084				
	(3.94)***	(1.09)				
Rural East-Hill	0.433	0.095				
	(5.13)***	(1.18)				
Rural-West Tera	0.062	0.213				
	(0.67)	(2.39)**				
Siera North			-0.329	-0.185		
			(2.25)**	(1.48)		
Siera Central			0.436	0.166		
			(2.09)**	(1.02)		
Selva Alta North			-0.630	-0.273		
			(2.99)***	(1.45)		
Selva Alta South			0.382	-0.542		
Salva Paia			(0.99)	(1.08)*		
Serva Daja			-0.392	-0.021		
Coastal North			_0 201	_0.296		
			(1.07)	(1.83)*		
			(1.07)	(1.05)		

Table 7—Joint child and schooling decisions in rural areas, IV estimates

(continued)

	Ν	epal	F	Peru	Zim	babwe
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment
Coastal South			-0.062	-1.166		
			(0.08)	(1.67)*		
Mashonaland N					-0.194	0.242
					(2.44)**	(2.93)***
Mashonaland E					-0.297	0.246
					(2.81)***	(2.20)**
Mashonaland W					-0.118	-0.087
					(1.25)	(0.86)
Matabeleland N					-0.296	0.269
					(2.85)***	(2.51)**
Matabeleland S					-0.333	0.431
					(3.64)***	(4.54)***
Midlands					-0.096	0.086
					(1.12)	(0.97)
Masvingo					-0.427	0.360
					(4.76)***	(3.85)***
Constant	1.265	-2.703	1.932	-1.063	3.298	-4.043
	(4.00)***	(8.75)***	(1.14)	(0.84)	(10.43)***	(11.77)***
ρ	-0	.769	0	.031	-0.	.987
Wald test	$X^{2}(42) =$	= 871.7***	$X^{2}(50) =$	= 458.0***	$X^{2}(46) =$	1,119.2***
Likelihood ratio test: $\rho = 0$	$X^{2}(1) =$	688.2***	$X^{2}(1)$	$X^{2}(1) = 0.275$		2,835.0***
Test for relevance of instrument(s)	t-statist	ic = 13.99	t-statistic = 1.79		F-statistic = 22.17	
	P-value	< 0.00001	P-valu	e < 0.074	P-value	< 0.00001
Observations	2,884	2,884	1,387	1,387	8,654	8,654

 Z,007
 Z,007
 1,30/
 1,30/
 8,054
 8,054

 Notes: Absolute value of Z statistics in parentheses. * is significant at 10 percent; ** is significant at 5 percent;

 *** is significant at 1 percent.

	N	epal	ŀ	Peru	Zim	babwe
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment
Sex (female)	-0.312	-0.179	-0.176	-0.367	-0.315	0.536
	(2.42)**	(1.30)	(1.97)**	(4.72)***	(4.39)***	(5.05)***
Age	-0.160	0.215	-0.262	0.144	-0.321	0.220
	(4.95)***	(6.14)***	(11.84)***	(8.04)***	(16.62)***	(9.26)***
Child wage	0.097	0.052	-0.063	0.157	-0.155	0.670
	(1.45)	(0.85)	(0.99)	(2.59)***	(0.54)	(1.92)*
Man's wage	0.040	-0.003	-0.084	-0.096	0.745	-1.821
	(2.91)***	(0.23)	(1.59)	(1.73)*	(1.11)	(1.82)*
Woman's wage	0.013	-0.013	-0.158	0.088	0.048	-3.259
Name	(2.24)	(1./5)	(1.68)*	(1.02)	(0.04)	(2.19)**
Nonwage income	0.015	0.020	-0./31	-0.213	-0.025	-0.08/
# V	(0.33)	(0.39)	(2.15)**	(1.40)	(0.12)	(0.33)
# Young children	-0.158	0.130	-0.040	0.021	-0.089	0.110
Head say (famala)	(2.32)**	(1./4)	(0.76)	0.022	(2.31)**	(2.20)**
Head sex (lemale)	-0.194	(0.56)	0.080	-0.033	-0.337	-0.114
Head aga	0.164	0.001	0.000	0.068	(3.28)	0.130
Tiead age	-0.104	(0.01)	-0.099	-0.008	(2.40)**	(2 00)***
Man's education	0.051	-0.045	-0.034	_0.002	0.023	-0.052
Man's education	(3 29)***	(2.61)***	(0.61)	(0.04)	(1.05)	(1.72)*
Woman's education	0.053	-0.053	-0.083	-0.250	0.092	-0.128
woman's education	(3.26)***	(2.92)***	(1.48)	(5.14)***	(4.02)***	(4 13)***
Mother works outside home	-0.024	0.372	0.049	0 598	-0 597	1 150
womer works outside nome	(0.17)	(2 32)**	(0.47)	(5.82)***	(4 87)***	(4 40)***
Community-level variables	(0.17)	(2.52)	(0.17)	(5.02)	(1.07)	(1.10)
Educational expenses	0.005	-0.007	0.014	-0.001	0.241	-0.155
	(0.79)	(0.97)	(14.36)***	(2.56)**	(1.45)	(0.78)
Access to a bank (1=ves, 0=no)	-0.364	-0.151	0.026	-1.915	-0.119	1.080
	(1.53)	(0.65)	(0.03)	(2.32)**	(0.32)	(2.04)**
Water storage (1=best, 5=worst)	0.217	-0.125	-0.013	-0.445	-0.164	0.514
	(2.80)***	(1.55)	(0.06)	(1.88)*	(0.70)	(1.62)
Electricity	-0.068	-0.726	1.071	-1.803	, , ,	· · ·
	(0.16)	(1.93)*	(1.41)	(2.31)**		
Sewage disposal (1=best, 5=worst)			0.181	-0.118		
			(1.03)	(0.66)		
Regional dummies						
Other urban-Hill	0.444	-0.127				
	(1.95)*	(0.56)				
Other urban-Tera	0.036	-0.240				
	(0.12)	(0.78)				
Lima North			0.201	-0.399		
<u> </u>			(0.94)	(1.90)*		
Siera North			0.207	0.503		
Size Castral			(0.66)	(1./5)*		
Siera Central			0.695	0.259		
Siora South			0.350	0.540		
Siela Soutii			(1.36)	(2 36)*		
Selva Alta North			0.120	0.188		
501yu / Hui 1401ui			(0.38)	(0.63)		
Selva Alta Central			0 303	0.03)		
Server hue Contrait			(0.73)	(0.93)		
Selva Alta South			-0.401	0.373		
			(1.31)	(1.22)		
Selva Baia			-0.425	0.704		
			(1.82)*	(3.13)***		
Coastal North			0.246	0.169		
			(1.04)	(0.72)		
			· /	` /	1	

Table 8—Joint child and schooling decisions in urban areas

(continued)

	Ň	Nepal		Peru	Zimbabwe	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment
Coastal Central			-0.112	0.662		
			(0.40)	(2.67)***		
Coastal South			0.196	0.326		
			(0.56)	(0.99)		
Bulawayo					-0.041	-0.057
					(0.23)	(0.24)
Mashonaland N					-0.099	-0.357
					(0.45)	(1.19)
Mashonaland E					0.124	-0.783
					(0.70)	(2.31)**
Mashonaland W					-0.063	-0.023
					(0.36)	(0.10)
Matabeleland N					0.226	-0.885
					(0.95)	(2.45)**
Matabeleland S					0.206	-0.166
					(0.91)	(0.56)
Midlands					0.034	-0.870
					(0.13)	(2.33)**
Masvingo					0.136	-0.484
					(0.51)	(1.39)
Constant	1.332	-2.607	4.234	0.151	5.978	-6.280
	(1.34)	(2.80)***	(3.50)***	(0.12)	(8.96)***	(7.21)***
_ρ	-	0.77	-0.1280		-(0.87
Wald test	$X^{2}(40)$	= 175.0***	$X^{2}(58)$	$X^{2}(58) = 566.8^{***}$		= 385.0***
Likelihood ratio test: $\rho = 0$	$X^{2}(1)$	= 78.3***	$X^{2}(1)$	= 3.4479*	$X^{2}(1) =$	242.6***
Observations	700	700	2,203	2,203	3,492	3,492

Notes: Absolute value of Z statistics in parentheses. * is significant at 10 percent; ** is significant at 5 percent; *** is significant at 1 percent.

	N	epal	Peru		Zim	Zimbabwe	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	
Sex (female)	-0.313	-0.170	-0.273	-0.477	-0.348	0.604	
	(2.43)**	(1.23)	(2.89)***	(4.78)***	(4.43)***	(5.15)***	
Age	-0.161	0.215	-0.234	0.193	-0.340	0.234	
01.11	(4.98)***	(6.13)***	(9.52)***	(5.26)***	(15.30)***	(9.05)***	
Child wage	(1.42)	0.055	0.008	0.225	-0.4/8	0.682	
Mon's waga	(1.45)	0.003	0.030	0.027	(1.52)	2 162	
Mail 5 wage	(2 90)***	(0.21)	(0.54)	(0.39)	(0.46)	(2 79)***	
Woman's wage	0.013	-0.013	-0.072	0.205	-0.189	-4 557	
Wollian 5 Wage	(2.24)**	(1.75)*	(0.75)	(1.82)*	(0.13)	(2.42)**	
Nonwage income (predicted)	0.013	-0.007	-0.814	-0.879	0.029	-0.028	
	(0.15)	(0.07)	(5.86)***	(1.59)	(1.03)	(0.75)	
Residuals from first-stage regression	0.016	0.027	-0.252	-0.002	0.000	-0.012	
	(0.32)	(0.48)	(5.77)***	(0.07)	(0.05)	(1.93)*	
# Young children	-0.160	0.134	-0.147	-0.069	-0.050	0.123	
	(2.33)**	(1.70)	(2.65)***	(0.92)	(1.09)	(2.00)**	
Head sex (female)	-0.194	0.106	-0.073	-0.217	-0.306	-0.098	
	(0.92)	(0.47)	(0.55)	(1.35)	(2.50)**	(0.55)	
Head age	-0.166	0.005	0.038	0.074	0.092	-0.128	
	(2.95)***	(0.08)	(0.76)	(0.76)	(2.24)**	(2.38)**	
Man's education	0.051	-0.044	-0.087	-0.042	0.008	-0.059	
	(3.24)***	(2.49)**	(1.45)	(0.76)	(0.28)	(1.45)	
Woman's education	0.053	-0.052	0.048	-0.073	0.082	-0.111	
	(3.13)***	(2.72)***	(0.74)	(0.62)	(3.25)***	(3.25)***	
Mother works outside home	-0.024	0.362	-0.058	0.446	-0.592	1.033	
	(0.16)	(2.24)**	(0.53)	(3.37)***	(4.44)***	(3.87)***	
Community-level variables	0.005	0.005	0.017	0.001	0.001	0.000	
Educational expenses	0.005	-0.005	0.01/	0.001	0.221	-0.226	
A	(0.73)	(0.70)	(13./1)***	(0.52)	(1.22)	(1.03)	
Access to a bank (1=yes, 0=no)	-0.362	-0.166	-0.200	-2.305	-0.0/4	1.309	
Number of schools	0.075	0.020	(0.22)	(2.03)	(0.10)	(2.04)	
Number of schools	(8 23)***	-0.039					
Water storage (1=best_5=worst)	0.23)***	-0.122	-0.159	-0.577	-0.277	0.532	
water storage (1 - best, 5 - worst)	(2 78)***	(1.52)	(0.65)	(2 37)**	(1.06)	(1.52)	
Electricity	-0.064	-0.759	1 689	-1 466	(1.00)	(1.52)	
Electricity	(0.15)	(1.99)*	(2 14)**	(1.71)*			
Sewage disposal (1=best, 5=worst)	(0.10)	(1.))	0.434	0.102			
			(2.34)**	(0.45)			
Regional dummies							
Other urban-Hill	0.449	-0.116					
	(1.96)*	(0.50)					
Other urban-Tera	0.037	-0.223					
	(0.12)	(0.73)					
Lima North			0.173	-0.604			
			(0.78)	(2.56)*			
Siera North			0.348	0.335			
			(1.03)	(1.12)			
Siera Central			0.579	0.016			
0: 0 4			(2.06)**	(0.06)			
Siera South			0.506	0.535			
Calva Alta North			(1.8/)*	(2.20)**			
Serva Ana North			0.02/	-0.009			
Salva Alta Control			0.09)	0.03)			
Serva Ana Central			(0.02)	(0.86)			
Selva Alta South			-0.357	0.215			
Serva Alta Soutii			(1.12)	(0.68)			
			(1.14)	(0.00)			

Table 9—Joint child and schooling decisions in urban areas, IV estimates

(continued)

	Nepal		I	Peru	Zimbabwe		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	Schooling	Employment	
Selva Baja			-0.299	0.755			
			(1.25)	(3.24)***			
Coastal North			0.335	0.102			
			(1.37)	(0.42)			
Coastal Central			-0.192	0.511			
			(0.66)	(1.92)*			
Coastal South			0.624	0.708			
			(1.74)*	(1.68)*			
Bulawayo					0.052	-0.231	
					(0.26)	(0.88)	
Mashonaland N					-0.169	-0.504	
					(0.65)	(1.45)	
Mashonaland E					0.357	-0.929	
					(1.69)*	(2.55)**	
Mashonaland W					-0.192	0.070	
					(0.64)	(0.17)	
Matabeleland N					0.056	-1.008	
					(0.15)	(1.90)	
Matabeleland S					0.141	-0.239	
					(0.58)	(0.77)	
Midlands					-0.123	-1.112	
					(0.30)	(1.97)*	
Masvingo					0.187	-0.467	
					(0.40)	(0.80)	
Constant	1.360	-2.637	2.522	-1.604	6.743	-6.685	
	(1.37)	(2.83)***	(1.96)*	(0.88)	(7.99)***	(6.17)***	
<u>ρ</u>	-(0.766	-(0.160	-0	.886	
Wald test	X ² (38) :	= 175.1***	X ² (58) :	$X^{2}(58) = 562.9 * * *$		= 345.7***	
Likelihood ratio test: $\rho = 0$	$X^{2}(1)$	= 78.5***	$X^{2}(1) = 4.89*$		$X^{2}(1) =$	228.0***	
Exogeneity test for nonwage	t-statis	ic = 14.64	t-statistic = 9.42		t-statistic = 3.66		
income	P-value	< 0.00001	P-value < 0.00001		P-value	e < 0.0012	
Test for relevance of instrument	t-statis	nc = 14.64	t-statis	t-statistic = 9.42		t-statistic = 3.66	
(t-test)	P-value	< 0.00001	P-value	e < 0.00001	P-value	e < 0.0012	
Observations	701	701	2,170	2,170	3,218	3,218	

Notes: Absolute value of Z statistics in parentheses. * is significant at 10 percent; ** is significant at 5 percent; *** is significant at 1 percent.

	Nepal		Peru		Zimbabwe	
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Tobit	IV Tobit	Tobit	IV Tobit	Tobit	IV Tobit
Sex (female)	3.516	3.519	-12.598	-12.598	11.243	11.390
	(3.29)***	(3.30)***	(8.15)***	(8.05)***	(4.70)***	(4.73)***
Age	3.974	3.969	2.812	2.758	14.555	14.537
01.11	(15.60)***	(15.50)***	(8.17)***	(7.90)***	(18.77)***	(18.74)***
Child wage	-0.387	-0.386	4.981	6.138	-5.570	-2.717
M	(1.08)	(1.08)	(1.48)	(1.67)*	(0.16)	(0.08)
Mail s wage	-0.152	-0.132	-10.300	-1/.125	(1.22)	(1.25)
Woman's wage	0.095	0.095	-3.801	-2 902	-134.026	-130.081
woman's wage	(1.50)	(1.49)	(1.23)	(0.92)	(3.26)***	(3.12)***
Nonlabor income	-6 373	(1.4))	-2.749	(0.)2)	-4 576	(5.12)
Tiomaoor meonie	(4.93)***		(2.15)**		(1.93)*	
Nonwage income (predicted)	(132)	-5.757	()	2.588	(330)	0.544
		(1.65)*		(0.21)		(0.05)
Residuals from first-stage		-6.455		-2.742		-4.905
regression						
		(4.74)***		(2.13)**		(2.00)**
# Young children	0.449	0.472	-1.229	-1.010	1.635	1.823
	(1.00)	(1.02)	(1.68)*	(1.07)	(1.71)*	(1.78)*
Head sex (female)	0.418	0.475	0.616	1.265	-4.137	-4.689
	(0.23)	(0.26)	(0.22)	(0.40)	(1.47)	(1.56)
Head age	-0.784	-0.795	1.366	1.461	1.201	1.114
	(1.77)*	(1.78)*	(1.90)*	(2.02)*	(1.32)	(1.21)
Man's education	-0.762	-0.774	-2.656	-2.260	-2.627	-2.522
	(5.22)***	(4.86)***	(2.30)**	(1.77)*	(3.70)***	(3.42)***
Woman's education	-1.157	-1.170	-1.945	-2.562	-4.797	-4.780
	(4.84)***	(4.70)***	(1.71)*	(1.53)	(6.00)***	(5.97)***
Mother works outside home	3.374	3.404	11.216	12.834	10.861	10.005
	(1.78)*	(1.79)*	(4.61)***	(3.57)***	(1.39)	(1.26)
Community-level variables	0.407	0.407	12 000	10 221	50.000	(2.9(7
Educational expenses	-0.486	-0.496	-12.880	-18.221	-39.989	-62.86/
A	(4.19)***	(3.89)***	(0.90)	(1.06)	(2.01)***	(2.00)***
Access to a bank (yes)	-3.238	-3.29/	/0.519	/3.339	-25.110	-23.094
Number of schools	0.719	(1.97)*	(3.03)***	(3.00)	(3.30)***	(3.39)***
Number of schools	(3.01)***	(3.01)***				
Water storage (1=best_5=worst)	2 789	2 772	-3 400	-3 795	3 772	3 672
water storage (1 best, 5 worst)	(3.13)***	(3 30)***	(1.07)	(1.18)	(1.08)	(1.05)
Electricity	-3.815	-3.833	-29.817	-29.633	(1.00)	(1.05)
Liceaterty	(2.51)**	(2.52)*	(3.06)***	(3.00)***		
Sewage disposal (1=best, 5=worst)	(2.01)	(2:02)	2.495	2.388		
			(3.78)***	(3.59)***		
Regional dummies			()	(chi chi		
Rural West-Hill	5.308	5.318				
	(3.27)***	(3.27)***				
Rural East-Hill	4.976	4.859				
	(2.83)***	(2.61)***				
Rural West Tera	5.048	5.074				
	(2.61)***	(2.62)***				
Siera North			-1.747	0.641		
			(0.66)	(0.11)		
Siera Central			7.043	6.872		
			(3.14)***	(3.03)***		
Selva Alta North			-6.445	-6.513		
			(1.76)*	(1.77)*		
Selva Alta South			-12.380	-9.376		
			(2.06)**	(1.05)		
Selva Baja			6.390	6.581		
			(2.56)**	(2.62)***		

Table 10—Child labor supply in rural areas, Tobit estimates

(continued)

	Nepal			Peru		babwe
	(1) Tobit	(2) IV Tobit	(3) Tobit	(4) IV Tobit	(5) Tobit	(6) IV Tobit
Coastal North			-8.179	-5.445		
			(2.42)**	(0.91)		
Coastal South			-20.402	-22.800		
			(2.05)**	(2.00)*		
Mashonaland N					6.337	5.981
					(1.35)	(1.26)
Mashonaland E					-1.510	-1.594
					(0.27)	(0.29)
Mashonaland W					-24.118	-24.755
					(4.09)***	(4.11)***
Matabeleland N					8.532	8.566
					(1.41)	(1.42)
Matabeleland S					16.147	16.616
					(3.02)***	(3.06)***
Midlands					-2.893	-3.290
					(0.68)	(0.76)
Masvingo					9.209	9.421
					(2.09)**	(2.13)**
Constant	-51.614	-51.669	-18.781	-20.547	-286.284	-286.162
	(7.74)***	(7.74)***	(1.03)	(1.07)	(12.91)***	(12.90)***
Likelihood ratio test	$X^{2}(21) =$	$X^{2}(20) =$	$X^{2}(24) =$	$X^{2}(25) =$	$X^{2}(22) =$	$X^{2}(23) =$
	545.6***	527***	290.8***	287.9***	877.0***	877.3***
Pseudo R ²	0.037	0.037	0.04	0.039	0.089	0.099
Observations	2,876	2,876	1,395	1,387	8,654	8,654

Notes: Absolute value of Z statistics in parentheses. * is significant at 10 percent; ** is significant at 5 percent; *** is significant at 1 percent.

	Ne	Nepal Peru		Peru	Zimbabwe		
-	(1) Tobit	(2) IV Tobit	(3) Tobit	(4) IV Tobit	(5) Tobit	(6) IV Tobit	
Sex (female)	-4.988	-5.068	-14.279	-17.754	30.488	30.960	
	(1.01)	(1.03)	(5.03)***	(4.97)***	(1.73)	(1.76)	
Age	7.434	7.447	5.733	7.185	22.870	22.913	
Childwage	(5.49)***	(5.49)***	(8.41)***	(5.42)***	(3.57)***	(3.61)***	
Child wage	-0.481	-0.496	4.800	(2.66)***	(2.04)**	(2.02)**	
Man's wage	-0.194	-0.195	-2.850	-0 703	-79 338	-147 221	
india o mago	(0.40)	(0.40)	(1.45)	(0.29)	(0.38)	(0.68)	
Woman's wage	-0.319	-0.318	1.980	5.832	-133.829	-126.994	
	(1.23)	(1.23)	(0.64)	(1.48)	(0.44)	(0.41)	
Nonwage income	-0.318		-0.488		-6.134		
	(0.16)		(0.64)		(1.47)		
Nonwage income (predicted)		0.191		-28.672		-45.270	
Desiduals from first stage		(0.05)		(1.47)		(1.24)	
regression		-0.405		-0.301		-3.248	
		(0.21)		(0.33)		(1.24)	
# Young children	2.887	2.927	0.190	-2.748	8.107	13.002	
	(1.09)	(1.10)	(0.12)	(1.05)	(0.94)	(1.31)	
Head sex (female)	10.469	10.688	-2.227	-8.731	13.604	38.701	
	(1.25)	(1.26)	(0.60)	(1.56)	(0.57)	(1.16)	
Head age	-0.036	-0.096	-2.104	2.689	-8.344	-4.546	
	(0.02)	(0.04)	(1.55)	(0.79)	(1.09)	(0.55)	
Man's education	-1.659	-1.680	-0.937	-1.825	-6.8/1	-12.434	
Woman's education	1.966	2.001	(0.55)	(0.95)	(1.35)	(1.08)*	
woman's education	(2.93)***	(2.85)***	-0.400	(0.61)	(2 12)**	(2 29)**	
Mother works outside home (yes)	10 107	10 234	18 151	12 198	87 491	82.594	
include works outside home (jes)	(1.72)*	(1.73)*	(4.86)***	(2.63)***	(2.15)**	(2.05)**	
Community-level variables		· · ·	· · · ·	, , ,	· · · · ·	· · · ·	
Educational expenses	-0.270	-0.290	-0.060	0.008	76.688	84.990	
	(1.09)	(1.06)	(3.11)***	(0.16)	(1.38)	(1.50)	
Access to a bank (yes)	-0.387	-0.132	-54.749	-64.245	105.569	99.317	
	(0.04)	(0.01)	(1.88)	(2.15)**	(1.25)	(1.18)	
water storage (1=best, 5=worst)	-4.569	-4.58/	-12.419	-16.524	35.91/	22.850	
Electricity	-18 572	-18 212		-49.806	(0.09)	(0.43)	
Licentry	(1.41)	(1.37)	(2.16)**	(1.67)			
Sewage disposal (1=best, 5=worst)	(1.41)	(1.57)	-6.298	0.384			
			(0.96)	(0.05)			
Regional dummies							
Other Urban-Hill	-2.909	-3.153					
	(0.36)	(0.39)					
Other Urban-Tera	-5.871	-6.057					
Line Marth	(0.55)	(0.57)	15 009	22.01(
Lima North			-15.098	-22.016			
Siera North			14 326	8 409			
Siera North			(1.39)	(0.80)			
Siera Central			7.420	-1.233			
			(0.86)	(0.13)			
Siera South			14.300	13.025			
			(1.71)*	(1.57)			
Selva Alta North			6.827	-0.009			
			(0.65)	(0.00)			
Seiva Alta Central			9.879	8.//6			
Selva Alta South			(0.07)	7 701			
Serva Alta Soutti			(1.19)	(0.70)			
			(1.17)	(0.70)			

Table 11—Child labor supply in urban areas, Tobit estimates

(continued)

	Ne	epal	Peru		Zimbabwe	
	(1) Tobit	(2) IV Tobit	(3) Tobit	(4) IV Tobit	(5) Tobit	(6) IV Tobit
Selva Baja			20.910	21.734		
			(2.59)***	(2.66)***		
Coastal North			7.517	3.073		
			(0.92)	(0.37)		
Coastal Central			21.079	15.260		
Constal South			(2.38)**	(1.65)*		
Coastal South			4.507	10.100		
Dulawaya			(0.38)	(1.08)	2 0.92	7 201
Bulawayo					2.985	-/.281
Mashonaland N					30.468	11 931
Widsholialand IV					(0.64)	(0.24)
Mashonaland E					-12.518	-18.835
					(0.33)	(0.48)
Mashonaland W					-89.900	-90.869
					(1.06)	(1.06)
Matabeleland N					-47.859	-62.251
					(0.92)	(1.16)
Matabeleland S					42.767	11.443
					(1.04)	(0.23)
Midlands					-36.927	-52.831
					(0.64)	(0.89)
Masvingo					-113.551	-137.787
					(1.63)	(1.86)*
Constant	-83.446	-84.227	-14.304	0.902	-654.146	-682.860
	(2.46)*	(2.42)*	(0.32)	(0.02)	(3.38)***	(3.46)***
Likelihood ratio test	$X^{2}(18) =$	$X^{2}(19) =$	$X^{2}(28) =$	$X^{2}(29) =$	$X^{2}(23) =$	$X^{2}(24) =$
	115.8***	115.4***	263.3***	261.2***	67.2***	74.1***
Pseudo R ²	0.087	0.087	0.070	0.070	0.119	0.131
Observations	692	692	2,203	2,170	3,218	3,218

Notes: Absolute value of Z statistics in parentheses. * is significant at 10 percent; ** is significant at 5 percent; *** is significant at 1 percent.

References

- Alderman, H., P. A. Chiappori, L. Haddad, J. Hoddinott, and R. Kanpur. 1995. Unitary versus collective models of the household: Is it time to shift the burden of proof? *World Bank Research Observer* 10 (1): 1–19.
- Alwang, J., L. Ersado, and N. Taruvinga. 2001. Changes in poverty in Zimbabwe between 1990 and 1996: Worsening outcomes under adverse conditions. *Development South Africa* 18 (5): 553–579.
- Barro, R. 1991. Economic growth in a cross section of countries. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106 (May): 407–443.
- Basu, K. 1999. Child labor: Causes, consequences, and cure, with remarks on international labor standards. *Journal of Economic Literature* 37 (September): 1083–1119.
- Basu, K., and P. H. Van. 1998. The economics of child labor. *The American Economic Review* 88 (3): 412–427.
- Becker, G. S. 1964. Human capital. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Becker, G. S., and H. G. Lewis. 1973. On the interaction between the quantity and quality of children. *Journal of Political Economy* 81 (2): S279–S288.
- Bhalotra, S. 2000a. Is child work necessary? STICERD Working Papers DEDPS 26. London: London School of Economics.
- Bhalotra, S. 2000b. Child farm labor: Theory and evidence. STICERD Working Papers DEDPS 24. London: London School of Economics.

- Binder, M. 1999. Community effects and desired schooling of parents and children in Mexico. *Economics of Education Review* 18 (3): 311–325.
- Bound, J., D. A. Jaeger, and R. M. Baker. 1995. Problems with instrumented variables estimation when the correlation between the instruments and the endogenous explanatory variables is weak. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* (June): 443–450.
- Brown, D. K. 2001. Child labor in Latin America: Policy and evidence. Department of Economics. Tufts University, Medford, Mass., U.S.A. Photocopy.
- Canagarajah, S., and H. Coulombe. 1998. *Child labor and schooling in Ghana. Policy Research Working Paper No. 1844.* Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Cochrane, S., V. Kozel, and H. Alderman. 1990. Household consequences of high fertility in Pakistan. World Bank Discussion Paper No. 111. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- DeGraff, D. S., R. E. Bilsborrow, and A. N. Herrin. 1993. The implications of high fertility for children's time use in the Philippines. In *Fertility, family size and structure—Consequences for families and children.*, ed. C. B. Lloyd. Proceedings of a Population Council seminar, New York, June 9–10, 1992.
- Ersado, L. 2002. Income diversification in Zimbabwe: Welfare implications from urban and rural areas. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, D.C. Photocopy.

- Ersado, L., H. Alderman, and J. Alwang. 2002. Changes in consumption and savings behavior before and after economic shocks: Evidence from Zimbabwe. Revised for *Economic Development and Cultural Change*. Forthcoming.
- Glick, P., and D. Sahn. 1997. Gender and education impacts on employment and earnings in West Africa: Evidence from Guinea. *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 45 (4): 793–823.
- Glick, P., and D. Sahn. 2000. Schooling of girls and boys in a West African country: The effects of parental education, income, and household structure. *Economics of Education Review* 19 (1): 63–87.
- Goonesekere, S. W. E. 1993. *Child labor in Sri Lanka—Learning from the past.* Geneva: International Labor Organization.
- Greene, W. H. 1997. *Econometric analysis*. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Grootaert, C. 1998. Child labor in Côte d'Ivoire: Incidence and determinants. In *The policy analysis of child labor: A comparative study*, ed. C. Grootaert and H. A. Patrinos. New York: St. Martins Press.
- Grootaert, C., and R. Kanbur. 1995. Child labor: An economic perspective. International Labor Review 134 (2): 187–203.
- Grootaert, C., and H. A. Patrinos, eds. 1999. *The policy analysis of child labor: A comparative study*. New York: St. Martins Press.
- ILO (International Labor Organization). 1996. *Economically active populations, 1950–2010*. Geneva.

- Jacoby, H. 1994. Borrowing constraint and progress through school: Evidence from Peru. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 76 (February): 151–160.
- Jacoby, H., and E. Skoufias. 1994. Risk, financial markets, and human capital in a developing country. *Review of Economics Studies* 64 (July): 407–424.
- Kassouf, A. L. 1998. Child labor in Brazil. STICERD, London School of Economics, U.K. Photocopy.
- Killingsworth, M. R., and J. Heckman. 1986. Female labor supply: A survey. In Handbook of labor economics, ed. O. Ashenfelter and R. Layard. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishers.
- Lahiri, S., and S. Jaffrey. 1999. Will trade sanctions reduce child labor?: The role of credit markets. Department of Economics, University of Essex, U.K. Photocopy.
- Levison, D., K. S. Moe, and F. M. Knaul. 2001. Youth education and work in Mexico. *World Development* 29 (1): 167–188.
- Lucas, R. 1988. On the mechanics of economic development. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 22 (1): 3–42.
- Mankiw, N. G., D. Romer, and D. N. Weil. 1992. A contribution to the empirics of economic growth. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 107 (2): 407–437.
- Moser, C. O. N. 1996. Confronting crisis: A comparative study of household responses to poverty and vulnerability in four poor urban communities. Environmentally Sustainable Development Studies and Monographs Series No. 8. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

- Patrinos, H. A., and G. Psacharopoulos. 1994. Educational performance and child labor in Paraguay. *International Journal of Educational Development* 15 (4): 47–60.
- Patrinos, H. A., and G. Psacharopoulos. 1997. Family size, schooling and child labor in Peru: An empirical analysis. *Journal of Population Economics* 10 (4): 387–406.
- Pradhan, M., and A. van Soest. 1997. Household labor supply in urban areas of Bolivia. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 79 (2): 300–310.
- Psacharopoulos, G. 1994. Returns to investment in education: A global update. *World* Development 22 (9): 1325–1343.
- Psacharopoulos, G. 1997. Child labor versus educational attainment: Some evidence from Latin America. *Journal of Population Economics* 10 (4): 377–386.
- Ranjan, P. 1999. An economic analysis of child labor. *Economic Letters* 64: 99–105.
- Ray, R. 2000a. Child labor, child schooling, and their interactions with adult labor:
 Empirical evidence for Peru and Pakistan. *World Bank Economic Review* 14 (2): 347–367.
- Ray, R. 2000b. Analysis of child labor in Peru and Pakistan: A comparative study. *Journal of Population Economics* 13 (1): 3–19.
- Romer, M. P. 1987. Increasing returns and long-run growth. *Journal of Political Economy* 94 (5): 1002–1037.
- Ruel, M. T., C. E. Levin, M. Armar-Klemesu, D. Maxwell, and S. S. Morris. 1999.
 Good care practices mitigate the negative effects of poverty and low maternal schooling on children's nutritional status: Evidence from Accra. *World Development* 27 (11): 1993–2009.

- Sawada, Y. 1999. Essays on schooling and economic development: A microeconometric approach for rural Pakistan and El Salvador. Ph.D. dissertation, Stanford University, Stanford, Calif., U.S.A.
- Siddiqi, F., and H. Patrinos. 1995. *Child labor: Issues, causes and interventions*.Human Resources and Operations Policy Working Paper 56. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Skoufias, E., and S. Parker. 2002. Labor market shocks and their impacts on work and schooling: Evidence from urban Mexico. Food Consumption and Nutrition
 Division Discussion Paper 129. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy
 Research Institute.
- Smith, R., and R. Blundell. 1986. An exogeneity test for a simultaneous equation Tobit model with an application to labor supply. *Econometrica* 54 (3): 679-685.
- Strauss, J., and D. Thomas. 1995. Empirical modeling of human resources. In *The handbook of development economics*, ed. J. Behrman and T. N. Srinivasan, 1883-2023. New York: North-Holland.
- Swaminathan, M. 1998. Economic growth and the persistence of child labor: Evidence from an Indian city. *World Development* 26 (8): 1513–1528.
- UNICEF (United Nations Children's Fund). 1991. *The state of the world's children* 1991. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Vijverberg, W. P. W. 1993. Educational investments and returns for women and men in Côte d'Ivoire. *Journal of Human Resources* 28 (4): 933–974

- **01** *Agricultural Technology and Food Policy to Combat Iron Deficiency in Developing Countries*, Howarth E. Bouis, August 1994
- **02** Determinants of Credit Rationing: A Study of Informal Lenders and Formal Credit Groups in Madagascar, Manfred Zeller, October 1994
- **03** *The Extended Family and Intrahousehold Allocation: Inheritance and Investments in Children in the Rural Philippines*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, March 1995
- 04 *Market Development and Food Demand in Rural China*, Jikun Huang and Scott Rozelle, June 1995
- **05** *Gender Differences in Agricultural Productivity: A Survey of Empirical Evidence*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, July 1995
- **06** *Gender Differentials in Farm Productivity: Implications for Household Efficiency and Agricultural Policy*, Harold Alderman, John Hoddinott, Lawrence Haddad, and Christopher Udry, August 1995
- **07** *A Food Demand System Based on Demand for Characteristics: If There Is "Curvature" in the Slutsky Matrix, What Do the Curves Look Like and Why?*, Howarth E. Bouis, December 1995
- **08** *Measuring Food Insecurity: The Frequency and Severity of "Coping Strategies,"* Daniel G. Maxwell, December 1995
- **09** *Gender and Poverty: New Evidence from 10 Developing Countries*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Lawrence Haddad, and Christine Peña, December 1995
- 10 *Women's Economic Advancement Through Agricultural Change: A Review of Donor Experience*, Christine Peña, Patrick Webb, and Lawrence Haddad, February 1996
- 11 Rural Financial Policies for Food Security of the Poor: Methodologies for a Multicountry Research Project, Manfred Zeller, Akhter Ahmed, Suresh Babu, Sumiter Broca, Aliou Diagne, and Manohar Sharma, April 1996
- 12 *Child Development: Vulnerability and Resilience*, Patrice L. Engle, Sarah Castle, and Purnima Menon, April 1996
- 13 Determinants of Repayment Performance in Credit Groups: The Role of Program Design, Intra-Group Risk Pooling, and Social Cohesion in Madagascar, Manfred Zeller, May 1996
- 14 Demand for High-Value Secondary Crops in Developing Countries: The Case of Potatoes in Bangladesh and Pakistan, Howarth E. Bouis and Gregory Scott, May 1996
- 15 *Repayment Performance in Group-Based credit Programs in Bangladesh: An Empirical Analysis,* Manohar Sharma and Manfred Zeller, July 1996
- 16 How Can Safety Nets Do More with Less? General Issues with Some Evidence from Southern Africa, Lawrence Haddad and Manfred Zeller, July 1996
- 17 Remittances, Income Distribution, and Rural Asset Accumulation, Richard H. Adams, Jr., August 1996
- 18 *Care and Nutrition: Concepts and Measurement*, Patrice L. Engle, Purnima Menon, and Lawrence Haddad, August 1996
- **19** *Food Security and Nutrition Implications of Intrahousehold Bias: A Review of Literature*, Lawrence Haddad, Christine Peña, Chizuru Nishida, Agnes Quisumbing, and Alison Slack, September 1996
- 20 *Macroeconomic Crises and Poverty Monitoring: A Case Study for India*, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, November 1996
- 21 *Livestock Income, Male/Female Animals, and Inequality in Rural Pakistan*, Richard H. Adams, Jr., November 1996
- 22 Alternative Approaches to Locating the Food Insecure: Qualitative and Quantitative Evidence from South India, Kimberly Chung, Lawrence Haddad, Jayashree Ramakrishna, and Frank Riely, January 1997

- 23 Better Rich, or Better There? Grandparent Wealth, Coresidence, and Intrahousehold Allocation, Agnes R. Quisumbing, January 1997
- 24 Child Care Practices Associated with Positive and Negative Nutritional Outcomes for Children in Bangladesh: A Descriptive Analysis, Shubh K. Kumar Range, Ruchira Naved, and Saroj Bhattarai, February 1997
- 25 Water, Health, and Income: A Review, John Hoddinott, February 1997
- 26 *Why Have Some Indian States Performed Better Than Others at Reducing Rural Poverty?*, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, March 1997
- 27 "Bargaining" and Gender Relations: Within and Beyond the Household, Bina Agarwal, March 1997
- 28 Developing a Research and Action Agenda for Examining Urbanization and Caregiving: Examples from Southern and Eastern Africa, Patrice L. Engle, Purnima Menon, James L. Garrett, and Alison Slack, April 1997
- 29 *Gender, Property Rights, and Natural Resources*, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Lynn R. Brown, Hilary Sims Feldstein, and Agnes R. Quisumbing, May 1997
- **30** *Plant Breeding: A Long-Term Strategy for the Control of Zinc Deficiency in Vulnerable Populations,* Marie T. Ruel and Howarth E. Bouis, July 1997
- **31** *Is There an Intrahousehold 'Flypaper Effect'? Evidence from a School Feeding Program*, Hanan Jacoby, August 1997
- 32 *The Determinants of Demand for Micronutrients: An Analysis of Rural Households in Bangladesh*, Howarth E. Bouis and Mary Jane G. Novenario-Reese, August 1997
- 33 Human Milk—An Invisible Food Resource, Anne Hatløy and Arne Oshaug, August 1997
- 34 *The Impact of Changes in Common Property Resource Management on Intrahousehold Allocation*, Philip Maggs and John Hoddinott, September 1997
- 35 Market Access by Smallholder Farmers in Malawi: Implications for Technology Adoption, Agricultural Productivity, and Crop Income, Manfred Zeller, Aliou Diagne, and Charles Mataya, September 1997
- **36** *The GAPVU Cash Transfer Program in Mozambique: An assessment*, Gaurav Datt, Ellen Payongayong, James L. Garrett, and Marie Ruel, October 1997
- 37 *Why Do Migrants Remit? An Analysis for the Dominican Sierra*, Bénédicte de la Brière, Alain de Janvry, Sylvie Lambert, and Elisabeth Sadoulet, October 1997
- **38** Systematic Client Consultation in Development: The Case of Food Policy Research in Ghana, India, Kenya, and Mali, Suresh Chandra Babu, Lynn R. Brown, and Bonnie McClafferty, November 1997
- **39** *Whose Education Matters in the Determination of Household Income: Evidence from a Developing Country*, Dean Jolliffe, November 1997
- **40** *Can Qualitative and Quantitative Methods Serve Complementary Purposes for Policy Research? Evidence from Accra*, Dan Maxwell, January 1998
- 41 The Political Economy of Urban Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa, Dan Maxwell, February 1998
- 42 *Farm Productivity and Rural Poverty in India*, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, March 1998
- **43** *How Reliable Are Group Informant Ratings? A Test of Food Security Rating in Honduras*, Gilles Bergeron, Saul Sutkover Morris, and Juan Manuel Medina Banegas, April 1998
- 44 *Can FAO's Measure of Chronic Undernourishment Be Strengthened?*, Lisa C. Smith, with a *Response* by Logan Naiken, May 1998
- **45** *Does Urban Agriculture Help Prevent Malnutrition? Evidence from Kampala*, Daniel Maxwell, Carol Levin, and Joanne Csete, June 1998
- 46 Impact of Access to Credit on Income and Food Security in Malawi, Aliou Diagne, July 1998

- 47 Poverty in India and Indian States: An Update, Gaurav Datt, July 1998
- **48** *Human Capital, Productivity, and Labor Allocation in Rural Pakistan*, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, July 1998
- 49 *A Profile of Poverty in Egypt: 1997*, Gaurav Datt, Dean Jolliffe, and Manohar Sharma, August 1998.
- 50 Computational Tools for Poverty Measurement and Analysis, Gaurav Datt, October 1998
- 51 Urban Challenges to Food and Nutrition Security: A Review of Food Security, Health, and Caregiving in the Cities, Marie T. Ruel, James L. Garrett, Saul S. Morris, Daniel Maxwell, Arne Oshaug, Patrice Engle, Purnima Menon, Alison Slack, and Lawrence Haddad, October 1998
- 52 *Testing Nash Bargaining Household Models With Time-Series Data*, John Hoddinott and Christopher Adam, November 1998
- 53 Agricultural Wages and Food Prices in Egypt: A Governorate-Level Analysis for 1976-1993, Gaurav Datt and Jennifer Olmsted, November 1998
- 54 *Endogeneity of Schooling in the Wage Function: Evidence from the Rural Philippines*, John Maluccio, November 1998
- 55 *Efficiency in Intrahousehold Resource Allocation*, Marcel Fafchamps, December 1998
- 56 How Does the Human Rights Perspective Help to Shape the Food and Nutrition Policy Research Agenda?, Lawrence Haddad and Arne Oshaug, February 1999
- 57 *The Structure of Wages During the Economic Transition in Romania*, Emmanuel Skoufias, February 1999
- 58 Women's Land Rights in the Transition to Individualized Ownership: Implications for the Management of Tree Resources in Western Ghana, Agnes Quisumbing, Ellen Payongayong, J. B. Aidoo, and Keijiro Otsuka, February 1999
- 59 Placement and Outreach of Group-Based Credit Organizations: The Cases of ASA, BRAC, and PROSHIKA in Bangladesh, Manohar Sharma and Manfred Zeller, March 1999
- **60** *Explaining Child Malnutrition in Developing Countries: A Cross-Country Analysis*, Lisa C. Smith and Lawrence Haddad, April 1999
- 61 Does Geographic Targeting of Nutrition Interventions Make Sense in Cities? Evidence from Abidjan and Accra, Saul S. Morris, Carol Levin, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Daniel Maxwell, and Marie T. Ruel, April 1999
- 62 Good Care Practices Can Mitigate the Negative Effects of Poverty and Low Maternal Schooling on Children's Nutritional Status: Evidence from Accra, Marie T. Ruel, Carol E. Levin, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Daniel Maxwell, and Saul S. Morris, April 1999
- 63 *Are Urban Poverty and Undernutrition Growing? Some Newly Assembled Evidence*, Lawrence Haddad, Marie T. Ruel, and James L. Garrett, April 1999
- 64 Some Urban Facts of Life: Implications for Research and Policy, Marie T. Ruel, Lawrence Haddad, and James L. Garrett, April 1999
- 65 Are Determinants of Rural and Urban Food Security and Nutritional Status Different? Some Insights from Mozambique, James L. Garrett and Marie T. Ruel, April 1999
- 66 *Working Women in an Urban Setting: Traders, Vendors, and Food Security in Accra*, Carol E. Levin, Daniel G. Maxwell, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Marie T. Ruel, Saul S. Morris, and Clement Ahiadeke, April 1999
- 67 Determinants of Household Access to and Participation in Formal and Informal Credit Markets in Malawi, Aliou Diagne, April 1999
- **68** *Early Childhood Nutrition and Academic Achievement: A Longitudinal Analysis*, Paul Glewwe, Hanan Jacoby, and Elizabeth King, May 1999

- 69 Supply Response of West African Agricultural Households: Implications of Intrahousehold Preference Heterogeneity, Lisa C. Smith and Jean-Paul Chavas, July 1999
- 70 *Child Health Care Demand in a Developing Country: Unconditional Estimates from the Philippines*, Kelly Hallman, August 1999
- 71 *Social Capital and Income Generation in South Africa, 1993-98*, John Maluccio, Lawrence Haddad, and Julian May, September 1999
- 72 Validity of Rapid Estimates of Household Wealth and Income for Health Surveys in Rural Africa, Saul S. Morris, Calogero Carletto, John Hoddinott, and Luc J. M. Christiaensen, October 1999
- 73 Social Roles, Human Capital, and the Intrahousehold Division of Labor: Evidence from Pakistan, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, October 1999
- 74 Can Cash Transfer Programs Work in Resource-Poor Countries? The Experience in Mozambique, Jan W. Low, James L. Garrett, and Vitória Ginja, October 1999
- 75 Determinants of Poverty in Egypt, 1997, Gaurav Datt and Dean Jolliffe, October 1999
- 76 *Raising Primary School Enrolment in Developing Countries: The Relative Importance of Supply and Demand*, Sudhanshu Handa, November 1999
- 77 The Political Economy of Food Subsidy Reform in Egypt, Tammi Gutner, November 1999.
- 78 *Determinants of Poverty in Mozambique: 1996-97*, Gaurav Datt, Kenneth Simler, Sanjukta Mukherjee, and Gabriel Dava, January 2000
- 79 Adult Health in the Time of Drought, John Hoddinott and Bill Kinsey, January 2000
- **80** Nontraditional Crops and Land Accumulation Among Guatemalan Smallholders: Is the Impact Sustainable? Calogero Carletto, February 2000
- 81 *The Constraints to Good Child Care Practices in Accra: Implications for Programs*, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Marie T. Ruel, Daniel G. Maxwell, Carol E. Levin, and Saul S. Morris, February 2000
- 82 Pathways of Rural Development in Madagascar: An Empirical Investigation of the Critical Triangle of Environmental Sustainability, Economic Growth, and Poverty Alleviation, Manfred Zeller, Cécile Lapenu, Bart Minten, Eliane Ralison, Désiré Randrianaivo, and Claude Randrianarisoa, March 2000
- **83** *Quality or Quantity? The Supply-Side Determinants of Primary Schooling in Rural Mozambique*, Sudhanshu Handa and Kenneth R. Simler, March 2000
- 84 Intrahousehold Allocation and Gender Relations: New Empirical Evidence from Four Developing Countries, Agnes R. Quisumbing and John A. Maluccio, April 2000
- 85 Intrahousehold Impact of Transfer of Modern Agricultural Technology: A Gender Perspective, Ruchira Tabassum Naved, April 2000
- **86** *Women's Assets and Intrahousehold Allocation in Rural Bangladesh: Testing Measures of Bargaining Power*, Agnes R. Quisumbing and Bénédicte de la Brière, April 2000
- **87** *Changes in Intrahousehold Labor Allocation to Environmental Goods Collection: A Case Study from Rural Nepal*, Priscilla A. Cooke, May 2000
- **88** *The Determinants of Employment Status in Egypt*, Ragui Assaad, Fatma El-Hamidi, and Akhter U. Ahmed, June 2000
- 89 The Role of the State in Promoting Microfinance Institutions, Cécile Lapenu, June 2000
- **90** Empirical Measurements of Households' Access to Credit and Credit Constraints in Developing Countries: Methodological Issues and Evidence, Aliou Diagne, Manfred Zeller, and Manohar Sharma, July 2000
- **91** *Comparing Village Characteristics Derived From Rapid Appraisals and Household Surveys: A Tale From Northern Mali*, Luc Christiaensen, John Hoddinott, and Gilles Bergeron, July 2000

- 92 Assessing the Potential for Food-Based Strategies to Reduce Vitamin A and Iron Deficiencies: A Review of Recent Evidence, Marie T. Ruel and Carol E. Levin, July 2000
- 93 *Mother-Father Resource Control, Marriage Payments, and Girl-Boy Health in Rural Bangladesh,* Kelly K. Hallman, September 2000
- 94 *Targeting Urban Malnutrition: A Multicity Analysis of the Spatial Distribution of Childhood Nutritional Status*, Saul Sutkover Morris, September 2000
- 95 Attrition in the Kwazulu Natal Income Dynamics Study 1993-1998, John Maluccio, October 2000
- 96 Attrition in Longitudinal Household Survey Data: Some Tests for Three Developing-Country Samples, Harold Alderman, Jere R. Behrman, Hans-Peter Kohler, John A. Maluccio, Susan Cotts Watkins, October 2000
- 97 Socioeconomic Differentials in Child Stunting Are Consistently Larger in Urban Than in Rural Areas, Purnima Menon, Marie T. Ruel, and Saul S. Morris, December 2000
- **98** *Participation and Poverty Reduction: Issues, Theory, and New Evidence from South Africa,* John Hoddinott, Michelle Adato, Tim Besley, and Lawrence Haddad, January 2001
- **99** *Cash Transfer Programs with Income Multipliers: PROCAMPO in Mexico*, Elisabeth Sadoulet, Alain de Janvry, and Benjamin Davis, January 2001
- **100** On the Targeting and Redistributive Efficiencies of Alternative Transfer Instruments, David Coady and Emmanuel Skoufias, March 2001
- **101** *Poverty, Inequality, and Spillover in Mexico's Education, Health, and Nutrition Program*, Sudhanshu Handa, Mari-Carmen Huerta, Raul Perez, and Beatriz Straffon, March 2001
- **102** School Subsidies for the Poor: Evaluating a Mexican Strategy for Reducing Poverty, T. Paul Schultz, March 2001
- **103** *Targeting the Poor in Mexico: An Evaluation of the Selection of Households for PROGRESA*, Emmanuel Skoufias, Benjamin Davis, and Sergio de la Vega, March 2001
- **104** An Evaluation of the Impact of PROGRESA on Preschool Child Height, Jere R. Behrman and John Hoddinott, March 2001
- **105** *The Nutritional Transition and Diet-Related Chronic Diseases in Asia: Implications for Prevention,* Barry M. Popkin, Sue Horton, and Soowon Kim, March 2001
- 106 Strengthening Capacity to Improve Nutrition, Stuart Gillespie, March 2001
- **107** *Rapid Assessments in Urban Areas: Lessons from Bangladesh and Tanzania*, James L. Garrett and Jeanne Downen, April 2001
- **108** *How Efficiently Do Employment Programs Transfer Benefits to the Poor? Evidence from South Africa*, Lawrence Haddad and Michelle Adato, April 2001
- **109** Does Cash Crop Adoption Detract From Childcare Provision? Evidence From Rural Nepal, Michael J. Paolisso, Kelly Hallman, Lawrence Haddad, and Shibesh Regmi, April 2001
- **110** *Evaluating Transfer Programs Within a General Equilibrium Framework*, Dave Coady and Rebecca Lee Harris, June 2001
- 111 An Operational Tool for Evaluating Poverty Outreach of Development Policies and Projects, Manfred Zeller, Manohar Sharma, Carla Henry, and Cécile Lapenu, June 2001
- **112** Effective Food and Nutrition Policy Responses to HIV/AIDS: What We Know and What We Need to Know, Lawrence Haddad and Stuart Gillespie, June 2001
- 113 Measuring Power, Elizabeth Frankenberg and Duncan Thomas, June 2001
- 114 Distribution, Growth, and Performance of Microfinance Institutions in Africa, Asia, and Latin America, Cécile Lapenu and Manfred Zeller, June 2001

- **115** Are Women Overrepresented Among the Poor? An Analysis of Poverty in Ten Developing Countries, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Lawrence Haddad, and Christina Peña, June 2001
- **116** *A Multiple-Method Approach to Studying Childcare in an Urban Environment: The Case of Accra, Ghana*, Marie T. Ruel, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, and Mary Arimond, June 2001
- 117 *Evaluation of the Distributional Power of* PROGRESA's Cash Transfers in Mexico, David P. Coady, July 2001
- **118** *Is* PROGRESA *Working? Summary of the Results of an Evaluation by IFPRI*, Emmanuel Skoufias and Bonnie McClafferty, July 2001
- **119** Assessing Care: Progress Towards the Measurement of Selected Childcare and Feeding Practices, and Implications for Programs, Mary Arimond and Marie T. Ruel, August 2001
- 120 *Control and Ownership of Assets Within Rural Ethiopian Households*, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, August 2001
- **121** Targeting Poverty Through Community-Based Public Works Programs: A Cross-Disciplinary Assessment of Recent Experience in South Africa, Michelle Adato and Lawrence Haddad, August 2001
- 122 *Strengthening Public Safety Nets: Can the Informal Sector Show the Way?*, Jonathan Morduch and Manohar Sharma, September 2001
- 123 Conditional Cash Transfers and Their Impact on Child Work and Schooling: Evidence from the PROGRESA Program in Mexico, Emmanuel Skoufias and Susan W. Parker, October 2001
- 124 *The Robustness of Poverty Profiles Reconsidered*, Finn Tarp, Kenneth Simler, Cristina Matusse, Rasmus Heltberg, and Gabriel Dava, January 2002
- 125 *Are the Welfare Losses from Imperfect Targeting Important?*, Emmanuel Skoufias and David Coady, January 2002
- 126 *Health Care Demand in Rural Mozambique: Evidence from the 1996/97 Household Survey*, Magnus Lindelow, February 2002
- 127 A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Demand- and Supply-Side Education Interventions: The Case of PROGRESA in Mexico, David P. Coady and Susan W. Parker, March 2002
- **128** Assessing the Impact of Agricultural Research on Poverty Using the Sustainable Livelihoods Framework, Michelle Adato and Ruth Meinzen-Dick, March 2002
- 129 Labor Market Shocks and Their Impacts on Work and Schooling: Evidence from Urban Mexico, Emmanuel Skoufias and Susan W. Parker, March 2002
- **130** *Creating a Child Feeding Index Using the Demographic and Health Surveys: An Example from Latin America*, Marie T. Ruel and Purnima Menon, April 2002
- **131** Does Subsidized Childcare Help Poor Working Women in Urban Areas? Evaluation of a Government-Sponsored Program in Guatemala City, Marie T. Ruel, Bénédicte de la Brière, Kelly Hallman, Agnes Quisumbing, and Nora Coj, April 2002
- **132** *Weighing What's Practical: Proxy Means Tests for Targeting Food Subsidies in Egypt*, Akhter U. Ahmed and Howarth E. Bouis, May 2002
- **133** *Avoiding Chronic and Transitory Poverty: Evidence From Egypt, 1997-99*, Lawrence Haddad and Akhter U. Ahmed, May 2002
- 134 In-Kind Transfers and Household Food Consumption: Implications for Targeted Food Programs in Bangladesh, Carlo del Ninno and Paul A. Dorosh, May 2002
- **135** *Trust, Membership in Groups, and Household Welfare: Evidence from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa,* Lawrence Haddad and John A. Maluccio, May 2002
- 136 Dietary Diversity as a Food Security Indicator, John Hoddinott and Yisehac Yohannes, June 2002

- **137** *Reducing Child Undernutrition: How Far Does Income Growth Take Us?* Lawrence Haddad, Harold Alderman, Simon Appleton, Lina Song, and Yisehac Yohannes, August 2002
- **138** *The Food for Education Program in Bangladesh: An Evaluation of its Impact on Educational Attainment and Food Security,* Akhter U. Ahmed and Carlo del Ninno, September 2002
- 139 Can South Africa Afford to Become Africa's First Welfare State? James Thurlow, October 2002
- 140 Is Dietary Diversity an Indicator of Food Security or Dietary Quality? A Review of Measurement Issues and Research Needs, Marie T. Ruel, November 2002
- 141 *The Sensitivity of Calorie-Income Demand Elasticity to Price Changes: Evidence from Indonesia*, Emmanuel Skoufias, November 2002
- 142 Social Capital and Coping With Economic Shocks: An Analysis of Stunting of South African Children, Michael R. Carter and John A. Maluccio, December 2002
- 143 Progress in Developing an Infant and Child Feeding Index: An Example Using the Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2000, Mary Arimond and Marie T. Ruel, December 2002
- 144 *Targeting Outcomes Redux*, David Coady, Margaret Grosh, and John Hoddinott, December 2002